

University of Pennsylvania ScholarlyCommons

Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations

Spring 5-16-2011

Regulation of TGF-B1-Induced Apoptosis and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition by Matrix Rigidity

Jennifer L. Leight University of Pennsylvania, jenniferleight@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations Part of the <u>Cell Biology Commons</u>, and the <u>Molecular</u>, <u>Cellular</u>, and <u>Tissue Engineering</u> <u>Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Leight, Jennifer L., "Regulation of TGF-B1-Induced Apoptosis and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition by Matrix Rigidity" (2011). *Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations*. 1549. http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/1549

This paper is posted at ScholarlyCommons. http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/1549 For more information, please contact libraryrepository@pobox.upenn.edu.

Regulation of TGF-B1-Induced Apoptosis and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition by Matrix Rigidity

Abstract

Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) plays an important role in several diseases that characteristically involve changes in tissue rigidity, such as cancer and tissue fibrosis. To determine whether matrix rigidity regulates the effects of TGF- β , we examined NMuMG and MDCK epithelial cells cultured on polyacrylamide gels with varying rigidity and treated with TGF- β 1. Decreasing matrix rigidity reduced cell spreading and increased TGF- β 1-induced apoptosis, while increasing matrix rigidity resulted in epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). To more carefully control cell spreading, microcontact printing was used to restrict ECM area and revealed that reducing cell spreading also increased apoptosis. Apoptosis on compliant substrates was associated with decreased FAK expression, and FAK overexpression rescued cell survival but not EMT. Further investigation revealed manipulations of FAK activity, using pharmacological inhibitors or expression of FAK mutants, did not affect apoptosis or EMT, suggesting that FAK regulates apoptosis through expression but not activity. Additional investigation into the signaling pathways regulated by rigidity revealed a role for PI3K/Akt. We observed increased Akt activity with increasing rigidity, and that PI3K/Akt activity was necessary for cell survival and EMT on rigid substrates. These findings demonstrate that matrix rigidity regulates a switch in TGF- β -induced cell functions through rigidity-dependent regulation of FAK and PI3K, and suggest that changes in tissue mechanics during disease contribute to the cellular response to TGF- β .

Degree Type Dissertation

Degree Name Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

Graduate Group Bioengineering

First Advisor Christopher S. Chen

Keywords Matrix rigidity, TGF-beta, apoptosis, EMT, FAK, Akt

Subject Categories Cell Biology | Molecular, Cellular, and Tissue Engineering

REGULATION OF TGF-β1-INDUCED APOPTOSIS AND EPITHELIAL-MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION BY MATRIX RIGIDITY

Jennifer L. Leight

A DISSERTATION

in

Bioengineering

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2011

Supervisor of Dissertation

Christopher Chen, Professor of Bioengineering

Graduate Group Chairperson

Susan Margulies, Professor of Bioengineering

Dissertation Committee Casim Sarkar, Assistant Professor of Bioengineering Richard Assoian, Professor of Pharmacology Rebecca Wells, Assistant Professor of Medicine

REGULATION OF TGF-β1-INDUCED APOPTOSIS AND EPITHELIAL-MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION BY MATRIX RIGIDITY

COPYRIGHT

2011

Jennifer L. Leight

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank all of the people who have contributed to this work and to my growth as a scientist and a person.

First, I thank my advisor, Dr. Christopher Chen, for all of his guidance and support that made this work possible. He has given me the room to grow and mature as a scientist, while providing invaluable insight along the way. I also would like to express my gratitude to the members of my dissertation committee, Dr. Casim Sarkar, Dr. Richard Assoian, and Dr. Rebecca Wells, for their scientific expertise and for always having an open door.

I also want to acknowledge all of the past and present members of the Chen lab, who have shared their technical knowhow but more importantly who have become lifelong friends. I would like to especially thank Michele, Michelle, Colette, Ravi, Wendy, and Dana who have contributed to this work through experimentation and technical advice. Michele has contributed countless hours to this work, and has been like my scientific big sister, helping me to persevere through the toughest times.

Finally, I also would like to express my deepest gratitude to my family and friends who have been so supportive through this whole process. My mother has been my constant cheerleader and has inspired me through her own achievements. Also, the friends I have made before and during graduate school have supported me and kept me sane after one too many hours in the lab. And, last but certainly not least, I want to thank Rick who came into my life at a difficult time and helped me find my way. This work could not have been possible without his limitless understanding, patience, and support.

ABSTRACT

REGULATION OF TGF-β1-INDUCED APOPTOSIS AND EPITHELIAL-MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION BY MATRIX RIGIDITY

Jennifer L. Leight

Christopher S. Chen

Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) plays an important role in several diseases that characteristically involve changes in tissue rigidity, such as cancer and tissue fibrosis. To determine whether matrix rigidity regulates the effects of TGF- β , we examined NMuMG and MDCK epithelial cells cultured on polyacrylamide gels with varying rigidity and treated with TGF-B1. Decreasing matrix rigidity reduced cell spreading and increased TGF- β 1-induced apoptosis, while increasing matrix rigidity resulted in epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). To more carefully control cell spreading, microcontact printing was used to restrict ECM area and revealed that reducing cell spreading also increased apoptosis. Apoptosis on compliant substrates was associated with decreased FAK expression, and FAK overexpression rescued cell survival but not EMT. Further investigation revealed manipulations of FAK activity, using pharmacological inhibitors or expression of FAK mutants, did not affect apoptosis or EMT, suggesting that FAK regulates apoptosis through expression but not activity. Additional investigation into the signaling pathways regulated by rigidity revealed a role for PI3K/Akt. We observed increased Akt activity with increasing rigidity, and that PI3K/Akt activity was necessary for cell survival and EMT on rigid substrates. These

findings demonstrate that matrix rigidity regulates a switch in TGF- β -induced cell functions through rigidity-dependent regulation of FAK and PI3K, and suggest that changes in tissue mechanics during disease contribute to the cellular response to TGF- β .

Table of Contents

Chapte	er 1: Introduction	1
Chapte	er 2: Background	5
2.1	TGF-β	5
2.1	.1 Dual role of TGF-β during cancer progression	5
2.1	.2 TGF-β signaling pathways	
2.1	.3 Regulation of apoptosis by TGF-β	9
2.1	.4 Regulation of EMT by TGF-β	
2.2	The regulation of cell function by matrix rigidity	
2.2	2.1 Changes in tissue rigidity during tumorigenesis	
2.2	2.2 Regulation of cell function by matrix rigidity	
2.3	Methods to control rigidity	
2.3	3.1 Natural matrices	
2.3	3.2 Synthetic matrices	
2.4	Summary	
Chapte	er 3: Materials and methods	28
3.1	Cell culture and reagents	
3.2	Experimental set up	
3.3	Polyacrylamide gel preparation	
3.4	Preparation of micropatterened substrates	
3.5	Adenovirus production	
3.6	Retrovirus production	
3.7	Caspase-3 activity assays	
3.8	Western blotting	
3.9	Microscopy, immunofluorescence, and image acquisition	
3.10	Real-time RT-PCR	

3.11	Luciferase assays	34
3.12	siRNA transfection	34

Chapter 4: Regulation of apoptosis and EMT by the cellular microenvironment.35

4.1	Intr	oduction	35
4.2	Res	ults	37
4.2.	1	Matrix rigidity regulates TGF- β 1-induced EMT and apoptosis	37
4.2.	2	Cell density regulates TGF- β 1-induced EMT and apoptosis	44
4.2.	.3	Cell spreading regulates TGF-β1-induced apoptosis	50
4.3	Dis	cussion	52

5.1	mu	oduction	
5.2	Res	ults	56
5.2	.1	FAK is important for rigidity-regulated apoptosis but not EMT	56
5.2	.2	Manipulation of FAK activity does not affect apoptosis or EMT	58
5.2	.3	Knockdown of FAK expression does not affect apoptosis	58
5.3	Dis	cussion	63

Chapter 6: Role of PI3K/Akt in matrix rigidity regulated EMT and apoptosis.....65

6.1	Intr	oduction	65
6.2	Res	ults	67
6.2	.1	Matrix rigidity regulates apoptosis and EMT through PI3K and Akt	67
6.2	.2	FAK manipulations do not regulate Akt activity	72
6.2	.3	Matrix rigidity regulates expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL	72
6.2	.4	Role of initiator caspases in TGF-β1-induced apoptosis	74
6.3	Dis	cussion	77

Chapter	r 7: Conclusions and Future Directions	.79
7.1	Conclusions	79
7.2	Future Directions	80
7.2.	1 Further exploration of the cellular microenvironment	80
7.2. and	2 Further elucidating molecular mechanisms regulated by matrix rigidity TGF-β	. 81
7.3	Concluding Remarks	85
Bibliog	raphy	.86

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Illustration of TGF-β1 signaling	
Figure 2.2 Rigidity of tissues, natural, and synthetic matrices.	16
Figure 2.3 Polyacrylamide gel preparation.	24
Figure 4.1 TGF-β1 induces EMT in NMuMG cells	
Figure 4.2 Matrix rigidity regulates TGF-B1 induced EMT and apoptosis.	
Figure 4.3 Matrix rigidity regulates TGF-B1 induced apoptosis.	41
Figure 4.4 Matrix rigidity regulates TGF-B1 induced EMT in MDCK cells	42
Figure 4.5 Smad signaling is unaffected by matrix rigidity	43
Figure 4.6 Decreased matrix rigidity inhibits EMT independent of apoptosis	45
Figure 4.7 Decreased matrix rigidity inhibits EMT independent of apoptosis	46
Figure 4.8 Cell seeding density regulates TGF-\u00b31 induced apoptosis	47
Figure 4.9 Cell seeding density regulates TGF- β 1 induced N-cadherin expression	
Figure 4.10 Cell seeding density regulates TGF-β1 induced 3TP luciferase activity	49
Figure 4.11 Cell spreading regulates TGF-\u00b31 induced apoptosis	51
Figure 5.1 FAK expression is regulated by matrix rigidity.	57
Figure 5.2 FAK expression rescues survival on compliant gels but not EMT	59
Figure 5.3 Manipulation of FAK activity does not affect EMT or apoptosis	60
Figure 5.4 FAK knockdown does not increase apoptosis.	
Figure 6.1 Akt activity is regulated by matrix rigidity	
Figure 6.2 PI3K/Akt activity is necessary for EMT and cell survival	69
Figure 6.3 Increasing PI3K activity inhibits apoptosis but does not rescue EMT	70
Figure 6.4 Myr-Akt does not affect apoptosis or EMT	71
Figure 6.5 FAK expression does not affect pAkt	73
Figure 6.6 Matrix rigidity regulates Bcl-2 expression.	75
Figure 6.7 Inhibition of caspase-8 and caspase-9 inhibits apoptosis.	76

Chapter 1

Introduction

TGF- β is a pleiotropic cytokine essential for many physiological processes, including embryonic development, immune function, and wound healing (Wu and Hill, 2009). Misregulation of TGF- β signaling can contribute to the progression of disease states such as organ fibrosis and cancer, and a key to treating these diseases will be a better understanding of the TGF- β signal transduction machinery (Massague, 2008). However, due to its widespread effects, the role of TGF- β is often complicated. This is perhaps best illustrated in the context of tumor progression, though analogous situations can be found in other settings. During early stages of tumorigenesis, TGF- β acts a tumor suppressor. In vitro, TGF-β induces growth arrest and apoptosis in most normal epithelial cells (Hannon and Beach, 1994; Pietenpol et al., 1990; Siegel and Massague, 2003). Mice in which the TGFB1 or SMAD genes are disrupted are prone to the development of cancer (Engle et al., 1999; Go et al., 1999; Zhu et al., 1998). Retrospective studies of various human tumor types have also found frequent downregulation or mutations inactivating the TGF- β signaling pathway (Bacman et al., 2007; Kaklamani et al., 2005; Stuelten et al., 2006). In later stages of cancer progression, however, TGF-β is thought to switch roles and become a tumor promoter through tumor cell autonomous mechanisms and by regulating the tumor stroma. Within the tumor, TGF-β enhances migration, invasion, survival and epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) (Massague, 2008). High levels of TGF-β in clinical settings are associated with a poor prognosis (Friess et al., 1993; Fukai et al., 2003; Wikstrom et al., 1998), and treatment with TGF-β in animal models results in larger, more metastatic tumors (Fukai et al., 2003; Muraoka et al., 2003; Wikstrom et al., 1998). TGF-β also plays an active role in remodeling of the tumor microenvironment, promoting activation of fibroblasts, increasing angiogenesis, and suppressing immune surveillance (Bierie and Moses, 2006). Although the switch in TGF-β from a tumor suppressor to promoter during disease progression is well documented, it is still unclear how this switch occurs. One possibility is that changes in the cellular microenvironmental context guide the cellular response to TGF-β.

While many aspects of the cellular microenvironment change during disease, including soluble factors, cell-cell interactions, and cell-ECM adhesion, changes in the mechanical properties of the microenvironment likely also modulate the response to the TGF- β . The mechanical stiffness of tissue microenvironments varies widely, as adipose tissue is less rigid than muscle which is less rigid than bone, and tissue stiffness can also change within the same type of tissue during disease states (Dechene et al., 2010; Ebihara et al., 2000; Samani et al., 2007). In the context of cancer progression as well as tissue fibrosis, increased tissue stiffness is well documented and is due to a number of factors including extracellular matrix remodeling, deposition, and crosslinking (Ebihara et al., 2000; Levental et al., 2009). *In vitro* studies have revealed that such

changes in matrix rigidity can regulate a number of cellular functions. Cells cultured on compliant substrates decrease proliferation and increase apoptosis as compared to cells on rigid substrates (Klein et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2000). Matrix rigidity modulates focal adhesion maturation, cell spreading, actin stress fiber formation, and cell motility (Lo et al., 2000; Pelham and Wang, 1997; Yeung et al., 2005). Differentiation of many cell types can also be regulated by matrix rigidity, including human mesenchymal stem cells, portal fibroblasts, mammary epithelial cells, and endothelial cells (Alcaraz et al., 2008; Engler et al., 2006; Li et al., 2007; Paszek et al., 2005; Vailhe et al., 1997). Because matrix rigidity can regulate a number of cell functions, including functions regulated by TGF-β such as proliferation, apoptosis, and differentiation, and tissues become stiffer during disease progression, we hypothesized that changes in matrix rigidity could regulate TGF-β-induced cellular functions.

In this study, we examined whether matrix rigidity regulates TGF- β -induced cell function. We examined two cell functions, apoptosis and EMT, as representative responses to TGF- β classically associated with tumor suppression or promotion, respectively (Massague, 2008). In most non-transformed epithelial cells, TGF- β induces programmed cell death, or apoptosis, and induction of apoptosis is one way TGF- β suppresses tumorigenesis during early stages of the disease (Rahimi and Leof, 2007). In contrast, EMT is a key step during metastasis and is characterized by dissolution of epithelial cell-cell junctions, remodeling of cell-matrix adhesion, and increased motility (Lee et al., 2006). Normal murine mammary gland epithelial cells (NMuMG) and Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial cells (MDCK), well established *in vitro* model systems of EMT (Miettinen et al., 1994), were used to determine whether these effects exist even in a non-cancerous genetic background. We found that substrate rigidity controlled TGF- β 1-induced cell functions - epithelial cells cultured on compliant substrates underwent apoptosis when treated with TGF- β 1, while on more rigid substrates, TGF- β 1 induced EMT. Mechanistic studies revealed cells cultured on compliant gels had decreased Akt activity, and modulation of the PI3K/Akt pathway could regulate the switch between EMT and apoptosis.

Chapter 2

Background

2.1 TGF-β

TGF- β was first identified as a cytokine that induces anchorage independent growth in fibroblasts (Assoian et al., 1984; de Larco and Todaro, 1978). The three mammalian TGF- β isoforms, TGF- β 1, 2, and 3, are a part of the larger TGF- β superfamily which has over 30 members, including the TGF- β s, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP), growth and differentiation factors (GDF), Activins and Nodal. The TGF- β superfamily regulates a myriad of biological processes from embryonic development to tissue homeostasis, and misregulation of the TGF- β signaling pathway results in a number of diseases. TGF- β 1 is upregulated during tumorigenesis to greater extent than other isoforms, and thus has been the focus of the most cancer research to date (Derynck et al., 1987; Dickson et al., 1987). This work focuses on the microenvironmental regulation of TGF- β 1-induced cell functions, motivated by disease states associated with changes in tissue stiffness, such as cancer and fibrosis.

2.1.1 Dual role of TGF- β during cancer progression

TGF- β has been shown to both suppress and promote cancer progression (Bierie and Moses, 2006). This dual role is likely due to the myriad of cell functions that TGF-

 β regulates. TGF- β acts a tumor suppressor through inhibition of proliferation and induction of apoptosis. TGF- β is a potent inhibitor of cell proliferation in many cell types, including epithelial, endothelial, neural, hematopoietic, and some mesenchymal cells. Proliferation is inhibited by TGF-B in several ways, including transcriptional upregulation of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors $p21^{CIP1/WAF1}$ and $p15^{INK4b}$. downregulation of cdc25A, transcriptional repression of c-myc, and induced protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) association with and inactivation of p70 S6K (Datto et al., 1995; Hannon and Beach, 1994; Iavarone and Massague, 1997; Petritsch et al., 2000; Pietenpol et al., 1990). TGF- β also suppresses tumor formation through induction of apoptosis. TGF- β induces apoptosis through a variety of mechanisms, including activation of caspase-8, transcriptional upregulation of death associated protein kinase, downregulation of Bcl-xL, upregulation of Bim and Bmf, and activation of JNK and p38 (Chipuk et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2004; Perlman et al., 2001; Ramjaun et al., 2007; Yamashita et al., 2008). These anti-tumorigenic effects are also observed in vivo. Mice in which the TGFB1 or SMAD genes are disrupted are prone to the development of cancer (Engle et al., 1999; Zhu et al., 1998). Expression of dominant-negative TßRII increased propensity of lung, mammary, and skin tumors (Bottinger et al., 1997; Go et al., 1999). TBRII has also been found to be mutated in both sporadic and inherited colon cancer, and restoration of the receptor can reverse malignant transformation (Markowitz et al., 1995; Wang et al., 1995).

While TGF- β can act as a tumor suppressor through inhibition of proliferation and induction of apoptosis, TGF- β also regulates several functions that promote cancer

progression including EMT, ECM production, and cell motility (Massague, 2008). EMT is characterized by a loss of epithelial polarity, disassembly of epithelial cell-cell adhesions, cytoskeletal reorganization, ECM remodeling, and increased migration (Thiery et al., 2009). While EMT is a normal physiological process necessary for development, inappropriate induction of EMT is associated with tumor progression and fibrosis (Lee et al., 2006). The ability of TGF- β to enhance cell migration is especially important for metastasis, and several in vitro studies have shown that TGF-B treatment stimulates motility and invasiveness in non-tumorigenic cell lines transfected with the oncogene ErbB2 (Seton-Rogers et al., 2004; Ueda et al., 2004). Many in vivo studies also support a role for TGF- β as a tumor promoter. Increased levels of TGF- β 1, through exogenous administration or by selection for cells overexpressing TGF- β 1, facilitated tumor formation of MCF7 breast cancer cells implanted in nude mice (Arteaga et al., 1993). Overexpression of activated TBRI or active TGF-B1 accelerated metastases from neu-induced primary mammary tumors in transgenic mice (Muraoka et al., 2003; Siegel et al., 2003).

Several studies have also captured both the tumor suppressor and promoter functions of TGF- β . In a report by Cui and colleagues in 1996, TGF- β 1 expression in keratinocytes in transgenic mice showed a biphasic action during long term chemical carcinogenesis treatment, with TGF- β 1 inhibiting benign tumor outgrowth but enhancing malignant conversion (Cui et al., 1996). Other reports have shown a similar biphasic action, with an exogenous tumor stimulant such as a chemical carcinogen or oncogene cooperating with TGF- β to increase tumor invasion and metastasis (Ao et al., 2006; Bandyopadhyay et al., 1999; Hojo et al., 1999; Oft et al., 1998; Oft et al., 1996). It is not well understood how TGF- β can switch functions from tumor suppressor to tumor promoter during cancer progression. The main hypothesis revolves around evasion of TGF- β 's cytostatic effects through mutations or deletions in the TGF- β signaling pathway (Massague, 2008). However, because TGF- β can control so many functions, and often in the same genetic background, we postulate that the cellular microenvironment provides another level of regulation for TGF- β -induced cell functions.

2.1.2 TGF- β signaling pathways

TGF- β is secreted from cells in a large latent complex with a C-terminal latency TGF- β binding protein and a non-covalently bound latency associated peptide (Annes et al., 2003). The latency TGF- β binding protein allows TGF- β to bind to extracellular matrix (ECM) components such as fibrillin and fibronectin (FN) (Unsold et al., 2001). This large latent complex can be activated in several ways including proteolysis, interaction with other proteins, and even mechanical force (Annes et al., 2002; Ge and Greenspan, 2006; Wipff et al., 2007). Activated TGF- β binds to TGF- β receptor II (T β RII) which recruits and phosphorylates T β RI (Wrana, J.L. et al., 1994). The T β R1 kinase then phosphorylates Smad2 and Smad3 which associate with Smad4, translocate to the nucleus, and initiate transcription (Lagna et al., 1996; Nakao et al., 1997; Yingling et al., 1997) (Fig. 2.1).

The Smad pathway is considered the canonical TGF- β signaling cascade, however several other Smad-independent signaling pathways have also been implicated in the action of TGF- β , including ERK, p38, JNK, PI3K, and RhoGTPases (Zhang,

2009). TGF- β activation of ERK has been reported in a number of cell types, including epithelial cells and fibroblasts (Hartsough and Mulder, 1995; Mucsi et al., 1996). More recent studies have shown direct binding and phosphorylation of Shc to TBRI and II (Galliher and Schiemann, 2007; Lee et al., 2007), which allows recruitment of Grb2/Sos, activation of Ras and, further downstream, activation of Erk (Fig. 2.1). Two other MAPKs, JNK and p38, have also been shown to be directly activated by TGF- β (Bhowmick et al., 2001b; Frey and Mulder, 1997; Hocevar et al., 1999; Yu et al., 2002). TGF- β stimulation of JNK and p38 is mediated by TRAF6 interacting directly with TBRI and II (Sorrentino et al., 2008; Yamashita et al., 2008). Binding of TRAF6 to the receptor complex promotes association and activation of TAK1 which leads to downstream activation of JNK and p38 (Fig. 2.1). Several other pathways in addition to MAPKs have also been connected to TGF- β signal transduction, including the RhoGTPases: RhoA (Bhowmick et al., 2001a; Edlund et al., 2002), Cdc42 (Barrios-Rodiles et al., 2005; Wilkes et al., 2003), and Rac (Hubchak et al., 2009), although it is still unclear exactly how TGF- β receptor complex regulates these pathways. Finally, the PI3K/Akt pathway can also be regulated by TGF-β (Bakin et al., 2000; Shin et al., 2001; Vinals and Pouyssegur, 2001; Wilkes et al., 2005). Further studies revealed an indirect interaction of p85, the regulatory subunit of PI3K, with TBRI and II, and that activity of TBRI was necessary for PI3K activation (Yi et al., 2005) (Fig. 2.1).

2.1.3 Regulation of apoptosis by TGF- β

TGF-β has long been recognized as potent stimulus of apoptosis, or programmed cell



Figure 2.1 Illustration of TGF-β1 signaling.

1. TGF- β binds to T β RII, and facilitates T β RI binding and activation. 2. The activated receptor complex phosphorylates Smad2/3, which allows complex formation with Smad4 and nuclear translocation to induce apoptosis and EMT. 3. She binds the receptor complex, allowing binding of Grb2, Sos, activation of Ras, and further downstream Erk. Erk promotes EMT and inhibits apoptosis. 4. TRAF6 binds activated T β RI, allowing TAK1 binding and activation, leading to downstream activation of JNK and p38 activity are important for induction of EMT and apoptosis. 5. The activated receptor complex activates the RhoGTPases, through still undiscovered mechanisms, and influence EMT. 6. The p85 subunit interacts indirectly with the T β RII, facilitating activation of PI3K, then Akt. PI3K/Akt activity is important for EMT and inhibits apoptosis.

death, in a number of cell types (Lin and Chou, 1992; Oberhammer et al., 1992; Rotello et al., 1991; Yanagihara and Tsumuraya, 1992). Induction of apoptosis occurs both through Smad dependent and independent signaling mechanisms (Fig. 2.1). TGF- β activation of the Smad pathway can transcriptionally upregulate several apoptotic related factors, such as Fas, AP1, and death associated protein kinase (Herzer et al., 2008; Jang et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2004; Yamamura et al., 2000). Upstream of transcription, several studies have shown that sequestering of Smad3 by direct binding of Akt prevents Smad nuclear translocation and apoptosis (Conery et al., 2004; Remy et al., 2004). TGF-B/Smad signaling also regulates expression of Bcl-2 family members, including upregulation of pro-apoptototic proteins such as Bax, Bim, and Bmf (Motyl et al., 1998; Ramjaun et al., 2007; Yano et al., 2006), as well as downregulation of antiapoptotic factors Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL (Chipuk et al., 2001; Francis et al., 2000; Motyl et al., 1998). While the Smad proteins play an important role in TGF-β-induced apoptosis, there is also evidence that Smads are not an absolute requirement for apoptosis. As mentioned earlier, TGF-B can activate JNK and p38 to regulate apoptosis independent of Smad signaling (Perlman et al., 2001; Yamashita et al., 2008). Additionally, a novel septin related protein was discovered, apoptosis-related protein in the TGF- β signaling pathway (ARTS), that also participates in TGF-β mediated apoptosis (Gottfried et al., 2004; Larisch-Bloch et al., 2000). The many studies summarized here highlight the variety of ways TGF- β stimulates apoptosis, and motivated the work in Chapter 6 to more carefully dissect how matrix rigidity might regulate TGF- β -induced apoptosis.

2.1.4 Regulation of EMT by TGF- β

Epithelial-mesenchymal transition is the process whereby epithelial cells lose their epithelial characteristics and transdifferentiate to a mesenchymal phenotype. This transition includes loss of apico-basal polarity, disruption of cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesions, degradation of the surrounding ECM, and cytoskeletal reorganization resulting in a more migratory phenotype and cell scattering. EMT is described by a set of characteristics, but there is no standard definition that clearly demarcates EMT. These characteristics include: a change in morphology from cuboidal to more elongated and fibroblastic, a switch from cortical actin to pronounced actin stress fibers, a decrease in epithelial markers, such as E-cadherin and ZO-1, a gain of mesenchymal markers like N-cadherin, α -sma, vimentin, and Snail, and an increase in motility. EMT is a critical process during many developmental steps, including gastrulation, neural crest formation, palatal growth, and heart valve formation (Mercado-Pimentel and Runyan, 2007; Nawshad et al., 2004; Solnica-Krezel, 2005; Tucker, 2004). After development is complete, epithelia serve specialized functions and do not typically differentiate, except during wound healing or in disease contexts such as fibrosis or cancer (Thiery et al., 2009). EMT is hypothesized to contribute to tumor cell invasion and metastasis, and gene expression associated with EMT is often associated with poor prognosis in a wide array of cancers, including thyroid, breast, pancreatic, and colorectal cancer (Thiery et al., 2009). Additionally, recent studies have observed morphological evidence of EMT at the invasive fronts of colorectal and mammary tumors (Prall, 2007; Wyckoff et al., 2007). Elucidating the mechanisms regulating EMT

and the associated cell functions will be an important step in understanding tumor progression and metastasis.

A number of signaling mechanisms have been described to regulate EMT, but the literature can be confusing and contradictory, likely due to the various disparate events characteristic of EMT. A number of growth factors have been associated with EMT induction, including EGF, TGF- α , FGF, and HGF, however it remains controversial whether these induce a true EMT or just cell scattering. TGF-B, conversely, has been convincingly demonstrated to control EMT during development and in several in vitro models (Boyer et al., 2000), and we will focus on the signaling downstream of TGF- β here (Fig. 2.1). As mentioned earlier, one of the ways TGF- β signals are transduced to the nucleus and initiate transcription is through the Smad pathway, and, not surprisingly, the Smad pathway has been found to be important for TGF- β -induced EMT (Piek et al., 1999). For example, when T β RI is mutated to prevent Smad binding but still retain MAPK signaling, TGF-β fails to induce EMT (Itoh et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2002). Similarly, disruption of Smad2 or Smad3 blocks EMT in both in vitro and in vivo studies (Saika et al., 2004; Sato et al., 2003; Valcourt et al., 2005), and later studies uncovered that Smad 3 upregulates transcription of Snail, a transcription factor that represses E-cadherin and promotes EMT (Cho et al., 2007; Vincent et al., 2009). While a number of studies have found Smad signaling to be indispensible for TGF-β-induced EMT, contradictory evidence also exists that EMT can occur independently of the Smad pathway. For example, in one study, siRNA knockdown of Smad4 expression did not affect EMT, and other studies have shown upregulation of

Snail is independent of Smad4 (Levy and Hill, 2005; Medici et al., 2006; Peinado et al., 2003).

As highlighted before, TGF-B also regulates several Smad-independent pathways, and many of these pathways were discovered because of their role in regulating EMT. Several in vitro studies found TGF-B-induced RhoA activity was necessary for EMT (Bhowmick et al., 2001a; Cho and Yoo, 2007; Masszi et al., 2003), as well as *in vivo* during embryonic chick heart development (Tavares et al., 2006). In another report, TGF- β downregulation of RhoA at tight junctions was necessary to facilitate their disassembly, and suggests that TGF- β may spatially regulate Rho during EMT (Ozdamar et al., 2005). In addition to Rho, a number of studies have demonstrated a synergistic effect on EMT between TGF- β and MAPK signaling (Grande et al., 2002; Janda et al., 2002; Uttamsingh et al., 2008), and that blocking Erk activity inhibits EMT (Xie et al., 2004; Zuo and Chen, 2009). Interestingly, JNK and p38 MAPKs, which are also important for TGF-β-induced apoptosis, have been implicated during EMT (Alcorn et al., 2008; Bakin et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2008; van der Velden et al., 2010; Yu et al., 2002). Finally, TGF-β stimulates the PI3K/Akt pathway, and PI3K/Akt activity was found to be necessary for EMT in both mammary and renal epithelial cell systems (Bakin et al., 2000; Bhowmick et al., 2001b; Kattla et al., 2008). TGF-B activation of Akt is often observed concurrently with activation of ERK (Bakin et al., 2000; Medici et al., 2006; Peinado et al., 2003), and this activity is important for Snail expression (Peinado et al., 2003). In squamous carcinoma cells, expression of a constitutively active Akt stimulated EMT (Grille et al., 2003) while inhibition of Akt activity induced reversion of EMT, or MET, mesenchymal-epithelial transition (Hong et al., 2009).

14

Whether these manipulations will also apply to non-tumorigenic cells or other cancers is still unknown, however Akt is often dysregulated during cancer and delineating its role during EMT will likely yield vital insights into the role of TGF- β and EMT during tumor progression.

2.2 The regulation of cell function by matrix rigidity

Mechanical properties, by definition, describe the properties of a material under stress, and these properties of a tissue or cell culture substrate can be measured by a variety of methods, including rheology, confined compression, tensile testing, microindentation, and atomic force microscopy. The reported values for a material's mechanical properties are influenced by a number of factors, including sample preparation (hydration, anisotropy, polymerization conditions) and test parameters (temperature, dynamic vs static, boundary conditions, length scale, etc), thus measurements made by different methods and different labs often do not completely agree. While not numerically equivalent, these measurements are usually in relative agreement, for example that adipose tissue is less rigid than muscle which is less rigid than bone (Fig. 2.2). Additionally, tissue stiffness can also change within the same type of tissue during disease states, such as fibrosis (Dechene et al., 2010; Ebihara et al., 2000), liver cirrhosis (Yeh et al., 2002), cancer (Lyshchik et al., 2005; Samani et al., 2007), and atheroscelrosis (Wang et al., 2008). In this work, references to a modulus or rigidity, refer to the Young's modulus (E), or the elastic tensile modulus.

2.2.1 Changes in tissue rigidity during tumorigenesis

A common theme from the literature relating to TGF- β 's role in cancer is that the oncogenic potential of TGF- β increases during tumor progression, indicating a



Figure 2.2 Rigidity of tissues, natural, and synthetic matrices.

Tissue values adapted from (Levental et al., 2007). Disease tissue values: a (Paszek et al., 2005), b (Ebihara et al., 2000), c (Yeh et al., 2002). Natural matrices: d (Gehler et al., 2009), e (Georges et al., 2006), f (Wang et al., 2003a), g (West et al., 2007). Synthetic matrices: h (Yeung et al., 2005), i (Nemir and West, 2010), j (Fuard et al., 2008), k (Teixeira et al., 2009).

switch occurs during tumorigenesis that allows cells to escape inhibition of proliferation and apoptosis and become more migratory and metastatic. Accumulation of genetic mutations in tumor cells is one component contributing to disease progression, however there are also dramatic changes occurring in the stromal compartment surrounding these cells. In addition to unchecked proliferation of tumor cells, there is an influx of activated fibroblasts, immune cells, and endothelial cells (Tlsty, 2001). This increase in cells leads to hypoxia and an altered and often elevated secretion of various growth factors (Hockel and Vaupel, 2001). There is also increased deposition and reorganization of the ECM (Burns-Cox et al., 2001; Kauppila et al., 1998; Strongin, 2006; Zhu et al., 1995). Leaky blood and lymphatic vessels lead to increased interstitial pressure (Padera et al., 2004). The combination of these processes increases overall tissue rigidity, a hallmark of cancer which has long been used to detect cancer through physical palpation and several imaging modalities (Khaled et al., 2004; Manduca et al., 2001; Parker and Lerner, 1992). It is well accepted that tumors become stiffer during disease progression, however how these changes in the mechanical properties of a tissue regulate tumorigenesis and TGF- β signaling remains unclear.

2.2.2 Regulation of cell function by matrix rigidity

Numerous recent studies in the past decade have demonstrated that matrix rigidity regulates cell function, including proliferation, apoptosis, and differentiation. These studies investigated a number of different cell systems and utilized both natural ECM components and synthetic substrates to vary matrix rigidity. For example, differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells can be directed by substrate rigidity, whereby more compliant substrates promoter neuronal or adipogenic fate, and rigid

substrates promote osteogenesis (Engler et al., 2006; Fu et al., 2010). Substrate stiffness also regulates neuronal function, including differentiation of neural progenitors (Seidlits et al., 2010; Teixeira et al., 2009), neurite extension (Balgude et al., 2001), and selective growth of neurons and astrocytes in a mixed population (Georges et al., 2006). Several studies have shown a role for matrix rigidity in regulation of capillary network formation using fibrin, poly(ethylene glycol), and self assembling peptide gels (Ghajar et al., 2008; Miller et al., 2010; Sieminski et al., 2007; Vailhe et al., 1997). Fibroblast biology has been extensively investigated. Compliant substrates decrease proliferation and increase apoptosis as compared to cells on rigid substrates (Klein et al., 2009; Park et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2007). Additionally, matrix rigidity also modulates focal adhesion maturation, cell spreading, actin stress fibers formation, and cell motility in fibroblasts (Fringer and Grinnell, 2001; Lo et al., 2000; Pelham and Wang, 1997; Yeung et al., 2005). Epithelial cell proliferation (Klein et al., 2009), apoptosis (Wang et al., 2007), and morphogenesis are regulated by matrix rigidity (Alcaraz et al., 2008; Paszek et al., 2005; Wozniak et al., 2003). Additionally a number of other cell systems are responsive to matrix rigidity, including chondrocytes (Genes et al., 2004; Klein et al., 2010), hepatocytes (Godoy et al., 2009; Li et al., 2007), and myoblasts (Boontheekul et al., 2007; Engler et al., 2004). A common theme among this literature is that mimicking tissue rigidity, either the native or disease states, often reveals important insights into the regulation of cell function.

2.3 Methods to control rigidity

Tissues within the body have different mechanical properties. Intuitively one would surmise that these properties might regulate cell function, and, the studies

summarized above demonstrate that cell function is indeed regulated by matrix rigidity. In order to study the regulation of cell function by matrix rigidity, researchers have developed a number of ways to modulate the mechanical properties of the microenvironment. These methods include natural matrices, such as collagen and fibrin, as well as synthetic materials like polyacrylamide and poly(ethylene glycol). Each method has pros and cons, and observations using each method must be interpreted in light of these. Here we highlight some of the most common methods and the advantages and drawbacks associated with each method, with a focus on the polyacrylamide system used in this work.

2.3.1 Natural matrices

A number of different natural matrices have been utilized to study the effects of substrate rigidity on cell function. One of the most widely used is type I collagen, which is commercially available and relatively inexpensive. Additionally, collagen I is the most abundant protein in vertebrate animals, well tolerated for in vivo studies, and highly adhesive for many cell types. Collagen I is commonly isolated from rat tail and solubilized in acetic acid, and a gel can be formed by increasing the pH and temperature of the collagen solution. Polymerization conditions, such as pH, temperature, collagen concentration, and fibril alignment, can affect the mechanical properties of the gel formed (Barocas et al., 1998; Roeder et al., 2002; Roeder et al., 2009). Changing the concentration of collagen from 1 to 5 mg/ml changes the elastic modulus of the gel from 100 to 800 Pa as measured by rheology (Gehler et al., 2009) (Fig. 2.2). The collagen matrix can also be stiffened after polymerization by glycation or enzymatic processes (Elbjeirami et al., 2003; Girton et al., 2000). In addition to changing the

properties of the matrix itself, the boundary conditions of the collagen gel can be manipulated to change the rigidity that the cells "feel". In 2D, cells can be cultured on a thick layer of collagen gel, for a compliant matrix, or on collagen adsorbed to glass from a very dilute solution, to simulate a rigid matrix (Godoy et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2003b). Finally, the collagen gel can also be released from the culture dish, reducing the isometric tension within the gel (Grinnell, 2000; Wozniak et al., 2003).

Fibrin gels are also a popular natural matrix used for in vitro rigidity studies, including for neuronal growth and angiogenesis assays (Georges et al., 2006; Ghajar et al., 2008; Vailhe et al., 1997). Fibrin gels use the natural clotting matrix, whereby fibrinogen monomers polymerize with the addition of thrombin. Fibrin gel architecture and rigidity, similar to collagen, can also be controlled by gelation conditions and monomer concentration, with a modulus range from 0.6 to 6 kPa (Blomback and Bark, 2004; Georges et al., 2006) (Fig. 2.2). Fibrin and collagen are not linearly elastic materials, and stiffen with increasing strain (Winer et al., 2009b). Culturing cells at high densities in these materials can change their mechanical properties, and should be taken into account during experimental design and interpretation of data.

Alginates are polysaccharides originally isolated from brown algae that can be ionically or chemically crosslinked to form hydrogels (Augst et al., 2006). Alginate is naturally protein resistant (Smetana, 1993), which can be an advantage but also requires covalently coupling adhesive peptides to the alginate to facilitate cell adhesion (Rowley et al., 1999). The rigidity of alginate can be controlled in variety of ways, including the molecular weight and composition of the polysaccharides, the stoichiometry of the alginate with the chelating cation, and the gelling temperature (Augst et al., 2006), resulting in a modulus range from 1 to over 200 kPa (Wang et al., 2003a; West et al., 2007) (Fig. 2.2). Alginate gels have been used to study stiffness in a variety of settings, including in vitro follicle development, myoblast phenotype, stem cell proliferation, and chondrocyte adhesion (Boontheekul et al., 2007; Genes et al., 2004; Hsiong et al., 2008; West et al., 2007).

2.3.2 Synthetic matrices

Purified, biologically derived materials, such as collagen and fibrin, have an intrinsic amount of biochemical and biophysical variability due to the inherent variability between animals and preparations. This variability leads to inconsistencies between experiments, as well as a high degree of heterogeneity within single gels. Additionally, the dynamic range of elastic moduli that can be reasonably achieved with these systems is limited by biochemical and biophysical constraints of these unique macromolecules. Therefore, although these materials have proven to be useful for clarifying the general influence of matrix on cell and tissue phenotypes, they are not as tractable for defining precise molecular mechanisms mediating mechanotransduction. To more carefully elucidate these mechanisms, synthetic materials have been developed that isolate changes in rigidity from other confounding factors such changes in ligand density and matrix remodeling.

First introduced by Pelham and Wang in 1997, polyacrylamide (PA) hydrogels have been widely adopted to study the effect of substrate rigidity on cell function for several reasons. First, the materials to fabricate PA gels are commercially available, inexpensive, and familiar to biologists, as polyacrylamide has long been utilized for protein separation by gel electrophoresis. PA gel rigidity is well characterized and easily controlled by varying the concentration of the bis-acrylamide and acrylamide monomers, with an elastic modulus range from 0.1 to 150 kPa (Pelham and Wang, 1997; Yeung et al., 2005). Additionally, PA is clear and nonfluorescent, making it an ideal substrate for fixed and live microscopic imaging. Limitations of the PA gel system include the inability to embed cells or implant the material *in vivo* due to the toxicity of acrylamide. PA is also resistant to protein adsorption, so proteins must be chemically conjugated to the surface, which allows for careful control of ligand density separate from rigidity, but the protein conjugation process can be time intensive and problematic, as described below.

Several methods have been developed to chemically couple proteins to the surface of PA. The original method by Pelham and Wang, described protein conjugation to the PA gels using sulfosuccinimidyl-6-(40-azido-20-nitrophenylamino) hexanoate, known as sulfo-SANPAH. Polymerization of the acrylamide and bis-acrylamide monomers is initiated using a standard ammonium persulfate/TEMED free radical-dependent polymerization reaction, and the solution is dropped onto a coverslip activated with aminopropyltrimethoxysilane and gluteraldehyde. After polymerization, the sulfo-SANPAH crosslinker is layered on top of the gel and crosslinked to the gel using exposure to UV light. This photoactivation step is usually repeated twice, and then the gels are incubated with a protein solution to allow the sulfosuccinimidyl group at the end of sulfo-SANPAH to react with the primary amines in the protein. The sulfo-SANPAH method is still used by a number of labs, although limitations with the crosslinker, including limited solubility and stability, short shelf life, and expense, can make it difficult to work with. Methods have been also been developed that utilize other

crosslinking reagents. For example, in carbodiimide-mediated cross-linking, EDC, (1ethyl-3-(3-dimethylamino-propyl))carbodiimide-HCl, is mixed into the acrylamide solution, and after polymerization incubated overnight to conjugate the protein to the surface (Beningo et al., 2002). N-succinimidyl ester of acrylaminohexanoic acid (N6) can also be mixed into the acrylamide mixture before polymerization, and one end of the molecule reacts with the acrylamide and the other with primary amines, similar to sulfo-SANPAH (Johnson et al., 2007; Reinhart-King et al., 2005). N6 is commercially available but sold in milligram quantities and prohibitively expensive, so it must be synthesized in the lab, a lengthy two to three day process that while not expensive does require an extensive chemistry background (Pless et al., 1983). A similar crosslinking reagent to the N6, N-hydroxysuccinimide ester (NHS ester) also incorporates the crosslinking reagent during polymerization but is commercially available and inexpensive. Unlike the N6 and EDC methods mentioned above, the acrylamide solution is overlaid with an immiscible toluene solution containing the NHS ester during polymerization (Fig. 2.3). The NHS ester copolymerizes with the surface of the PA gel, and then is reactive with the primary amines, allowing protein conjugation. While the NHS ester method is less expensive and time intensive than the sulfo-SANPAH method mentioned above, addition of the toluene layer can affect gel polymerization and requires practice to produce homogeneous surfaces on very compliant (< 1 kPa) gels. In this work, we have used the NHS ester to conjugate proteins to the surface of the PA gels.

Similar to PA gels, poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) hydrogels resist protein adsorption and allow for independent control of matrix rigidity and ligand density.

23



Figure 2.3 Polyacrylamide gel preparation.

The polyacrylamide solution is placed on an activated coverslip and overlaid with the NHS crosslinker dissolved in toluene. A siliconized coverslip is placed on top of the acrylamide and toluene solutions. After the acrylamide solution is fully polymerized, the siliconized coverslip is removed. The polyacrylamide gel is then incubated with the protein solution, then the ethanolamine solution, and finally plated with cells.

However, PEG gels permit 3D encapsulation of cells and *in vivo* implantation. Additionally, different peptide sequences can be covalently incorporated to control a number of parameters including cell adhesion and degradability (Nuttelman et al., 2008). The rigidity of PEG hydrogels can be controlled by varying the molecular weight and concentration of the macromer. PEG gels are not as compliant as natural matrices or PA gels, with a lower limit for the elastic modulus around 1 kPa (Nemir and West, 2010) (Fig. 2.2). Substrate rigidity has been studied using PEG hydrogels in a number of cell systems, including muscle stems cells, neurite extension, angiogenesis assays, and smooth muscle cells (Gilbert et al., 2010; Gunn et al., 2005; Miller et al., 2010; Peyton et al., 2006). PEG gels provide an attractive alternative to PA gels and will likely gain in popularity over the coming years due to the ability to study rigidity in 3D and *in vivo*.

Poly(dimethyl siloxane) (PDMS), a silicone elastomer used widely for soft lithography, has also been used as to study the effects of substrate rigidity (Fuard et al., 2008; Gray et al., 2003; Park et al., 2010; Teixeira et al., 2009). Although hydrophobic, PDMS can be used as cell culture substrate if plasma treated to render the surface hydrophilic. PDMS rigidity is controlled by varying the crosslinker concentration, and the temperature and time of baking (Fuard et al., 2008). PDMS can also be molded into different shapes, and work by our lab has recently shown that varying the length of PDMS micropillars can simulate changes in rigidity and has similar effects on cell morphology and stem cell differentiation (Fu et al., 2010).

We have focused on the most common materials used today, but many other materials have been utilized to study material properties on cell function, including
agarose (Balgude et al., 2001; Ulrich et al., 2010), hyaluronic acid (Seidlits et al., 2010), ionic self assembling peptide gels (Sieminski et al., 2007) and polyelectrolyte multilayers (Schneider et al., 2007) to name just a few. While the development of synthetic materials has allowed the careful control of matrix rigidity independent of other confounding factors, these systems can also lose some of the important biochemical and biophysical information in natural matrices. For example, many synthetic materials incorporate RGD peptides to facilitate cell adhesion. However, RGD is a very small region of fibronectin, and many studies have demonstrated the importance of the other domains of fibronectin, including for integrin binding, (Friedland et al., 2009), growth factor binding (Rahman et al., 2005), and interactions with other ECM molecules (Hynes, 2009). A number of ECM components in addition to fibronectin support cell adhesion, bind to different integrin heterodimers, and regulate cell function. Also, most synthetic materials are not affected by enzyme degradation or ECM deposition, so cells cannot remodel their matrix as occurs in vivo. Thus, while valuable insights can be gained by synthetic materials or purified biological materials, a reductionist approach might miss important regulatory actions of the ECM and matrix rigidity on cell function.

2.4 Summary

The cellular microenvironment is a critical regulator of cell function, however many questions still remain regarding how crosstalk between the microenvironment and growth factor signaling regulates cell function. In the following chapters we investigate how the microenvironment regulates TGF- β -induced cell signaling and cell function. In Chapter 4, we examine the regulation of TGF- β -induced apoptosis and EMT by the adhesive microenvironment through control of matrix rigidity, cell seeding density, and microcontact printing. We next explored the role of matrix rigidity in regulating focal adhesion signaling (Chapter 5) and the PI3K/Akt pathway (Chapter 6) to control the switch between apoptosis and EMT. Finally, in Chapter 7, we discuss the significance and future directions motivated by the work presented here.

Chapter 3

Materials and methods

3.1 Cell culture and reagents

NMuMG and MDCK cells were obtained from American Type Culture Collection and cultured according to their recommendations. Reagents were obtained as follows. Monoclonal antibodies: α-smooth muscle actin (1A4; Sigma-Aldrich), Smad4 (DCS-46; Sigma-Aldrich), vinculin (hVIN-1; Sigma-Aldrich), GAPDH (6C5; Ambion), E-cadherin (36; BD Biosciences), N-cadherin (32; BD Biosciences), FAK (77; BD Biosciences). Polyclonal antibodies: ZO-1 (Zymed Laboratories), pY397 FAK (Invitrogen), pAkt (cell signaling), Akt (cell signaling), Bcl-xL (cell signaling), cleaved caspase-3 (cell signaling), FAK (Cell Signaling Technology).

3.2 Experimental set up

Cells were cultured on FN-functionalized polyacrylamide gels, microcontact printed substrates, or at the indicated density for 16 hr in growth medium. The cells were rinsed in sterile PBS, and then growth factor starved in HGDMEM for 2 hr. Cells were treated in the absence of serum with 10 μ g/ml insulin (Sigma-Aldrich) and 10 ng/ml TGF- β 1 (R&D Systems) for 2 hr (RNA isolation, FAK and Akt western blotting), 4 hr (caspase activity, focal adhesion immunofluorescence, luciferase

activity), or 48 hr (for EMT immunofluorescence and western blotting). For inhibitor studies, cells were treated 1 hr prior to TGF- β 1 treatment with ZVAD-FMK (400 μ M; Enzo Life Sciences), IETD-CHO (10 and 100 μ M; Calbiochem), LEHD-CHO (10 and 100 μ M; Calbiochem), PF 573228 (1 μ M; Tocris Biosciences), LY294002 (10 μ M; Calbiochem), or Akt Inhibitor VIII (1 μ M; Calbiochem).

3.3 Polyacrylamide gel preparation

Polyacrylamide gels were prepared as described previously with minor modifications (Winer et al., 2009a; Yeung et al., 2005). Mechanical properties of the polyacrylamide gels were controlled by varying the percentage of acrylamide and bisacrylamide as follows: elastic modulus (% acrylamide; % bis-acrylamide) - 0.4 kPa (3; 0.05), 1 kPa (3; 0.1), 5 kPa (5.5; 0.15), 8 kPa (5; 0.3), 14.5 kPa (7.5; 0.15), 20 kPa (8; 0.264), 60 kPa (10; 0.5). Acrylamide polymerization was initiated by 0.1% (v/v) TEMED and 0.1% (w/v) ammonium persulfate. 25 µL of acrylamide solution was pipetted directly onto activated 18 mm coverslips (400 μ L for 50 mm coverslips). 10 μ L of 20 µg/ml acrylic acid N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) ester (Sigma Aldrich) dissolved in toluene (45 µl for 50 mm) was pipetted directly on to the acrylamide solution, and a Rain-X coated coverslip placed on top of both solutions. After 10 min of polymerization, the top coverslip was removed, and the gels were rinsed in ddH_2O . Gels were functionalized with 20 µg/ml FN in 50 mM HEPES pH8 for 1 hr at RT, and then rinsed in ddH_2O . The NHS ester was quenched by incubation with 1% (v/v) ethanolamine in 50 mM HEPES pH 8 for 30 min at RT. After rinsing with ddH₂O, the polyacrylamide gels were transferred to a sterile dish and sterilized in 5% (v/v)

isopropanol in PBS for 1 hr at RT. Before plating with cells, the gels were rinsed two times with sterile PBS.

3.4 Preparation of micropatterened substrates

Micropatterned substrates were prepared as described (Pirone et al., 2006). Briefly, micropatterned stamps were fabricated by casting poly(dimethoxysilane) (PDMS) (Sylgard 184, Dow Corning)on a photolithographically-generated master. Stamps were immersed for 1 hr in 20 μ g/ml fibronectin, washed two times in water, and thoroughly dried with nitrogen. Protein was transferred to surface-oxidized PDMS coated glass coverslips. Stamped coverslips were immersed in 0.2% Pluronic F127 (BASF) in PBS for 1 hr and rinsed in PBS before cell seeding.

3.5 Adenovirus production

FAK, FRNK, FAK-Y397F, p110-CAAX (Upstate Biotechnology), and GFP recombinant adenoviruses were constructed as described previously (Pirone et al., 2006) using the AdEasy XL system (Stratagene) according to manufacturer's instructions. The CD2-FAK adenovirus was generated by C. Henke (University of Minnesota) and CA PI3K by L. Romer (Johns Hopkins University). Expression was optimized and verified by western blot.

3.6 Retrovirus production

Retrovirus was produced as described (Ory et al., 1996) with 293GPG cells. Bcl-xL plasmid was obtained from Addgene (Plasmid 8790, (Cheng et al., 2001)) and myr-Akt plasmid from M. Birnbaum (University of Pennsylvania). Briefly, 293 GPG cells were cultured in 90% HGDMEM, 10% FBS, 1 µg/ml tetracycline, 2 µg/ml puromycin, 300 µg/ml G418 and passaged at 80% confluence at a 1:5 dilution. For retroviral production, 9x10⁶ 293 GPG cells were plated in a 10 cm dish in 90% HGDMEM and 10 % FBS (virus production medium) with all antibiotics removed. The next day, the medium was replaced with 6.5 mLs of 1% HEPES, 10% FBS, 89% HGDMEM, and the cells were transfected with 12 µg retroviral DNA and 48 µl TransIT-LT1 transfection reagent (Mirus) per 10 cm dish. The next day, medium was discarded and replaced with virus production medium. Medium was collected at 24, 48, and 72 hrs later, and stored at 4°C until final collection. Collected medium was centrifuged to remove cells at 1000 RPM for 5 minutes and viral supernatant was sterile filtered, aliquotted, and stored at -80°C. For retroviral infection, viral supernatant was added to recipient cells plus 8 µg/ml polybrene. Expression was optimized and verified by western blot.

3.7 Caspase-3 activity assays

Caspase-3 activity was determined by EnzChek Caspase-3 Assay (Invitrogen). Briefly, cells were lysed in provided lysis buffer and incubated at -80°C for 10 minutes to complete lysis. Samples were thawed at RT and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 7000 RPM. 50 µl of cell lysate (or lysis buffer for blank well) was mixed with 50 µl of reaction buffer plus the Z-DEVD-AMC caspase substrate in a 96-well plate and incubated for 30 min at RT. Fluorescence was measured at 350 nm excitation/ 485 nm emission. Caspase activity was normalized to total DNA content as determined by CyQUANT Cell Proliferation Assay (Invitrogen). In a separate well, 10 µl of lysate (or 10 µl of lysis buffer for blank), 1 µl of CyQUANT dye, and 90 µl of CyQUANT lysis buffer were mixed, incubated for 5 minutes at RT, and fluorescence was measured at 485 nm excitation/ 530 nm emission. Blank values were subtracted from all wells.

3.8 Western blotting

Cells were rinsed in PBS and lysed in ice cold modified RIPA buffer (25 mM HEPES, 75 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.25% deoxycholate,1 mM EDTA, 1 mM NaF, 1X Halt protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Scientific)), and centrifuged at 14000 RPM for 10 minutes at 4°C. Protein concentration was determined by Precision Red Advanced Protein Assay (Cytoskeleton). 25 µg of protein were separated by denaturing SDS-PAGE, electroblotted onto PVDF blocked with 5% BSA or milk in TBS-0.3% Tween-20, immunoblotted with specific antibodies, and detected using horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) and SuperSignal West Dura (Pierce Chemical Co.) as a chemiluminescent substrate. Densitometric analysis was performed using a VersaDoc imaging system with QuantityOne software (Bio-Rad Laboratories).

3.9 Microscopy, immunofluorescence, and image acquisition

Samples were rinsed in PBS, and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde at RT for 10 minutes, or, for E-cadherin staining, cells were fixed in 1:1 acetone/methanol on ice for 20 minutes. After fixation, all samples were rinsed two times with PBS, permeabilized with 0.5% Triton-x, and blocked in 10% goat serum for 1 hr at RT. Samples were incubated with primary antibodies (1:200) for 1hr at RT, rinsed three times with PBS, then incubated with Alexa Fluor 488, 555, or 647 secondary antibodies (1:200; Invitrogen), Alexa Fluor 488 Phalloidin (1:200, Invitrogen), and Hoechst 33342 (1:1000; Invitrogen) for 1 hr at RT. Samples were rinsed three times in PBS, then

mounted with Fluormount G (Electron Microscopy Sciences). Images were acquired using an epifluorescence microscope (model TE200; Nikon), equipped with Plan Fluor $10\times$, 0.3 NA, and Plan Apo $60\times$, 1.4 NA, oil immersion lenses, Spot camera and software (Diagnostic Instruments). Some image levels were adjusted using Photoshop (Adobe).

For pY397 and vinculin immunofluorescence, samples were rinsed with ice cold cytoskeleton extraction buffer (10 mM PIPES, 50 mM NaCl, 150 mM sucrose, 3 mM MgCl2, 1X Halt protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail) for 1 min on ice, followed by two 30 second incubations with cytoskeleton buffer plus 0.5% triton, one rinse with cytoskeleton buffer, and fixation with 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 minutes at RT. Staining was completed as above. Images were acquired using an epifluorescence microscope (Axiovert 200M; Carl Zeiss MicroImaging, Inc.) equipped with 63x Plan-Apochromat, 1.4 NA, oil immersion objective, an Axiocam camera, and Axiovision software.

3.10 Real-time RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated using an RNeasy Mini or Micro kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Complementary DNA (cDNA) was transcribed with high-capacity cDNA reverse transcription kit (Applied Biosystems) with 0.5 ug of total RNA per reaction. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed in an ABI 7,300 system (Applied BioSystems) using TaqMan gene expression assays according to the manufacturer's instructions. Results were analyzed using the relative quantitation method, and all mRNA expression data were normalized to 18S expression in the corresponding sample and then to the control sample. TaqMan gene expression assays used were as follows: Snai1 (Mm00441533_g1), 18S (Hs99999901_s1).

3.11 Luciferase assays

Cells were transfected with p3TP-lux Addgene plasmid 11767 (Wrana et al., 1992) using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer's instructions. The next day, transfected cells were seeded on polyacrylamide gels overnight. Transfected cells were treated with TGF-β1 for 4 hours, then lysed and analyzed using the dual-luciferase reporter assay (Promega). Luminescence was measured with GloMax 20/20 Luminometer (Promega). Luciferase values were normalized to DNA content as described in caspase-3 activity assays.

3.12 siRNA transfection

 0.37×10^6 cells per well in a 6 well plate were plated, and the next day transfected according to manufacturer's instructions with Lipofectamine 2000 control (Invitrogen), 5 nM scrambled siRNA, and 5-100 nM FAK siRNA #1 and #2 (Ambion). 24 hr after transfection, cells were replated for experiments.

Chapter 4

Regulation of apoptosis and EMT by the cellular microenvironment

4.1 Introduction

The adhesive cellular microenvironment is a key regulator of cell function, and adhesion to the ECM is necessary for survival in many cell types (Frisch and Francis, 1994; Meredith et al., 1993). In addition to survival, manipulation of cell-ECM adhesion by a variety of methods has revealed that adhesion also regulates numerous other cell functions, including proliferation, apoptosis, and differentiation (Chen et al., 1997; McBeath et al., 2004). A classic method to modulate cell-ECM and cell-cell adhesion is through cell seeding density. In many cell types, increased seeding density "crowds" cells together and reduces cell spread area and ECM contact while increasing cell-cell adhesion (Liu et al., 2006; Nelson et al., 2008). Because seeding density affects more just than just cell-ECM adhesion, many methods have been developed to more carefully dissect how cells interact with the ECM, including varying adhesive ligand density, microcontact printing, and nanopatterned surfaces (Arnold et al., 2004; Tan et al., 2004).

In this chapter, we examine the effects of the cellular microenvironment on TGF-β-induced cell function. We examined two cell functions, apoptosis and epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT), as representative responses to TGF- β classically associated with tumor suppression or promotion, respectively (Massague, 2008). By modulating matrix rigidity using polyacrylamide gels, we found that epithelial cells cultured on compliant substrates underwent apoptosis when treated with TGF-B1, while on more rigid substrates, TGF-B1-induced EMT. By inhibiting apoptosis on compliant substrates, we found that NMuMG cells still failed to undergo a complete EMT. To further investigate how changes in the cellular microenvironment affect cell function, we seeded cells at different densities and assessed TGF- β 1-induced apoptosis and EMT. Interestingly, we found increasing cell density inhibited both apoptosis and EMT. Because changing matrix rigidity or cell seeding density affects both cell-ECM and cellcell adhesion, we isolated the effect of changing cell-ECM adhesion by micropatterning islands of fibronectin to control spreading of single cells. Cells in which spreading was restricted were found to have increased apoptosis in response to TGF-B1. Taken together, these findings reveal that the cellular microenvironment regulates TGF-B1induced cell functions, and suggest that during diseases such as cancer and fibrosis, changes in the microenvironment likely play an important the role in the regulation of TGF-β1-induced cell fates.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Matrix rigidity regulates TGF-β1-induced EMT and apoptosis

To explore whether matrix rigidity influences cellular responses to TGF- β 1, we first examined normal murine mammary gland (NMuMG) epithelial cells cultured on fibronectin-conjugated polyacrylamide (PA) gels with a range of elastic moduli from 0.4 to 60 kPa and treated with TGF-\beta1. Before addition of TGF-\beta1, NMuMG cells cultured on PA gels exhibited differences in morphology as a function of substrate compliance (Fig. 4.1). Cells on the most rigid gels (E > 14 kPa) appeared cuboidal and formed a monolayer on the surface identical to cells on tissue culture plastic. In contrast, cells on compliant gels (E<1 kPa) were more rounded and formed spherical clusters. On more rigid PA gels (E>5 kPa), or on tissue culture plastic, TGF- β 1 treatment induced an elongated morphology and scattering of cells, characteristic of an epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Fig. 4.1). Examination of known EMT markers confirmed this response, as evidenced by delocalization of the epithelial junctional markers, ZO-1 and E-cadherin, and increased expression of mesenchymal markers N-cadherin and α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) (Fig. 4.1). In contrast, cells did not appear to undergo EMT on compliant PA gels, as exemplified by loss of expression of the EMT associated transcription factor, Snail, with decreasing substrate rigidity (Fig. 4.2). Interestingly, compliant substrates (E < 1 kPa) not only suppressed EMT, but also induced a rapid and dramatic increase in apoptosis in response to TGFβ1 treatment, as evidenced by TGF-β1-induced caspase activity on compliant gels but not rigid gels (Fig. 4.2). This was observed across a range of TGF- β 1 concentrations



Figure 4.1 TGF-β1 induces EMT in NMuMG cells.

(A) Phase contrast images of NMuMG cells cultured on PA gels with elastic moduli ranging from 0.4 to 60 kPa for 24 h. (B) Western blot of N-cadherin (135 kD), Ecadherin (120 kD), α -sma (42 kD), and GAPDH control (38 kD) in NMuMG cells cultured on rigid PA gels treated with TGF- β 1 or BSA control for 48 hr. (C) Phase contrast images and immunostaining of NMuMG cells cultured on rigid (E=8 kPa) PA gels and treated with TGF- β 1. Bars, 50 µm.



Figure 4.2 Matrix rigidity regulates TGF-β1-induced EMT and apoptosis.

Graph of caspase-3 activity (\blacktriangle) and Snai1 mRNA expression (\bullet) (representative of n=5) in NMuMG cells plated on PA gels treated with TGF- β 1 (solid lines) or BSA control (dashed lines). Error bars indicate the SEM of 5 independent experiments.

and by 24 hrs most cells cultured on compliant gels treated with TGF- β 1 exhibited significant nuclear fragmentation (Fig. 4.3). A similar switch in TGF- β 1-induced cell fate was also observed in MDCK epithelial cells, with increased apoptosis on compliant gels and induction of EMT on rigid gels (Fig. 4.3 and 4.4), suggesting that this control mechanism is not restricted to mammary epithelia.

One way matrix rigidity may regulate the switch between EMT and apoptosis is by blocking TGF- β /Smad signaling on compliant substrates. In the canonical TGF- β signaling pathway, ligand binding activates the TGF- β receptor complex which phosphorylates Smad2 and Smad3, allowing Smad2/3 and Smad4 complex formation and translocation to the nucleus to regulate transcription. To investigate the effects of matrix rigidity on TGF- β /Smad signaling, we first observed the nuclear translocation of Smad4. As early as 2 hrs after TGF- β 1 treatment, Smad4 translocated to the nucleus in NMuMGs to similar degrees on both rigid and compliant substrates (Fig. 4.5). In addition, use of a Smad-responsive 3TP-luciferase reporter plasmid also showed no difference in Smad transcriptional activity on rigid versus compliant substrates (Fig. 4.5) (Wrana et al., 1992; Yingling et al., 1997). These results suggest that Smad signaling is not involved in matrix rigidity regulation of TGF- β 1-induced cellular functions.

Given that the apoptotic response occurred within hours while EMT occurred after several days, it was not clear if the decreased EMT on compliant gels was a result of TGF- β 1-induced cell death, or if compliance directly regulated EMT independent of its effects on cell survival. To address this, we blocked the apoptotic response by either



Figure 4.3 Matrix rigidity regulates TGF-β1-induced apoptosis.

(A) Hoechst stained nuclei of NMuMG cells cultured on rigid (E=5 kPa) and compliant (E=0.4 kPa) gels. (B) Graph of caspase-3 activity in NMuMG cells treated with 0.1 to 10 ng/ml TGF- β 1. (C, D) Graph of percentage of positive staining for cleaved-caspase-3 immunofluorescence in NMuMG (C) or MDCK cells (D) treated with TGF- β 1 for 24 hr. Error bars indicate SEM of three independent experiments. **, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001, calculated by *t* test compared to 0.4 kPa +TGF- β 1. Bar, 50 µm.



Figure 4.4 Matrix rigidity regulates TGF-β1-induced EMT in MDCK cells.

(A, B) Immunostaining of MDCK cells cultured on rigid (E=5 kPa) (A) and compliant (E=0.4 kPA). (B) PA gels and treated with TGF- β 1 or BSA control for 48 hr. Bars, 50 μ m.



Figure 4.5 Smad signaling is unaffected by matrix rigidity.

(A) Immunostaining for Smad4 and nuclei in NMuMG cells cultured on rigid (E=8 kPa) and compliant (E=0.4 kPA) PA gels, and treated with TGF-β1 or BSA control for 8 hr.
(B) Graph of luciferase activity in NMuMG cells transfected with p3TP-lux, plated on PA gels, and treated with TGF-β1. Error bars indicate the SEM of three independent experiments.

overexpressing the survival factor, Bcl-xL, or treating with a pan-caspase inhibitor, ZVAD-FMK, and observed whether EMT on compliant gels would be rescued. Both reagents decreased caspase-3 activity and prevented nuclear fragmentation (Fig. 4.6). When apoptosis was inhibited, NMuMGs cultured on compliant gels still failed to undergo EMT. E-cadherin remained localized to junctions, N-cadherin and α -sma failed to express, and cells did not transition to an elongated phenotype (Fig. 4.6 and 4.7). Together, these data suggest that substrate stiffness regulates a switch in the response of cells to TGF- β 1, between EMT and apoptosis, and that these two responses are independently regulated.

4.2.2 Cell density regulates TGF-β1-induced EMT and apoptosis

Previous studies have shown that cell density can regulate TGF-β-induced cell functions, and that cells grown to confluence do not undergo EMT (Nelson et al., 2008; Petridou et al., 2000). To investigate if cell density regulates the switch between apoptosis and EMT, NMuMG and MDCK cells were seeded at different densities and treated with TGF-β1 (Fig. 4.8). Similar to published reports, confluent cells did not undergo EMT, as indicated by retention of a cuboidal epithelial phenotype and lack of N-cadherin expression (Fig. 4.8 and 4.9) (Petridou et al., 2000). E-cadherin expression did not change significantly by varying seeding density. Interestingly, increasing seeding density also inhibited TGF-β1-induced apoptosis (Fig. 4.8). Although matrix rigidity did not affect TGF-β/Smad signaling, increasing cell density resulted in decreased TGF-β1-induced 3TP luciferase activity (Fig. 4.10). Together these results suggest that matrix rigidity and cell density regulate apoptosis and possibly EMT in different ways.



Figure 4.6 Decreased matrix rigidity inhibits EMT independent of apoptosis. (A, B) Western (A) and graph of caspase-3 activity (B) in NMuMG cells infected with retro-GFP, retro-Bcl-xL, or treated with 400 μ M ZVAD-FMK, plated on rigid (E=8 kPA) and compliant (E=0.4 kPA) gels, and treated with TGF- β 1 or BSA control. (C) Immunostaining for N-cadherin, E-cadherin, α -sma, and nuclei of NMuMG cells infected with retro-Bcl-xL on compliant gels and treated with TGF- β 1. Error bars indicate SEM of three independent experiments. **, P<0.01, calculated by *t* test. Error bars indicate SEM of 3 independent experiments. Bars, 50 μ m.



Figure 4.7 Decreased matrix rigidity inhibits EMT independent of apoptosis. Western blot and quantification of N-cadherin (135 kD), E-cadherin (120 kD), α -sma (42 kD), and GAPDH control (38 kD) in NMuMG cells infected with retro-GFP, retro-Bcl-xL, or treated with 400 μ M ZVAD-FMK, plated on rigid (E=8 kPa) and compliant (E=0.4kPa) gels, and treated with TGF- β 1 or BSA control. Error bars indicate SEM of 4 independent experiments.



Figure 4.8 Cell seeding density regulates TGF-β1-induced apoptosis.

(A) MDCK cells seeded at increasing density on tissue culture plastic, treated with TGF- β 1 for 48 hr. (B) Graph of cleaved caspase-3 positive cells plated at increasing density and treated with TGF- β 1 for 24 hr. n=1. Bar, 50 μ M.



Figure 4.9 Cell seeding density regulates TGF- β 1-induced N-cadherin expression. (A, B) Western blot of E-cadherin (120 kD) (A), N-cadherin (135 kD) (B), and GAPDH (38 kD) expression in MDCK cells seeded at increasing density, treated with TGF- β 1 for 48 hr. (C, D) Quantification of E-cadherin (C) and N-cadherin (D) expression in NMuMG and MDCK cells plated at increasing density and treated with TGF- β 1 for 48 hr. Error bars indicate SEM of four independent experiments.



Figure 4.10 Cell seeding density regulates TGF-β1-induced 3TP luciferase activity. 3TP luciferase activity in MDCK cells seeded at increasing density, treated with TGFβ1 for 24 hr. Error bars indicate standard deviation of two independent experiments.

4.2.3 Cell spreading regulates TGF-β1-induced apoptosis

Matrix rigidity and cell density could regulate TGF- β 1-induced apoptosis and EMT at a number of levels, including through regulation of cell-ECM adhesion. Previous work has shown that inhibition of cell spreading inhibits MMP-induced EMT, but the effect on apoptosis was not studied (Nelson et al., 2008). Here we used microcontact printing to limit cell spreading to 225 μ m² islands of FN or allowed the cells to fully spread on FN printed with flat stamps (Fig. 4.11). Cells in which spreading was restricted underwent significantly more apoptosis than cells that were fully spread (Fig. 4.11). These results indicate that one way matrix rigidity regulates apoptosis may be through regulation of cell-ECM adhesion and cell spreading.



Figure 4.11 Cell spreading regulates TGF-β1-induced apoptosis.

(A) NMuMG cells seeded on 225 μ m² micropatterned islands (unspread) or flat stamps (spread) of fibronectin. (B) Graph of percent positive cleaved caspase-3 cells treated with TGF- β 1 for 24 hr. Error bars indicate SEM of three independent experiments. ***, P<0.001, calculated by two-way ANOVA. Bar, 25 μ m.

4.3 Discussion

In this chapter, we provide evidence that the extracellular microenvironment regulates TGF- β 1-induced EMT and apoptosis. Inhibition of cell spreading or seeding on compliant substrates promotes apoptosis with TGF- β 1 treatment. Compliant substrates also inhibit EMT, and it will be interesting in future experiments to explore the role of cell spreading and EMT. Previous work indicates MMP but not TGF- β -induced EMT is inhibited by restricting cell spreading (Nelson et al., 2008), but it is unclear whether cell spreading is important for TGF- β -induced EMT in the system presented here because of the use of different cell types and due to the results presented earlier that matrix rigidity does inhibit EMT.

Increasing cell density to confluence, similar to compliant substrates, inhibited TGF- β -induced EMT. Unlike compliant substrates, however, confluence also inhibited apoptosis. The inhibition of TGF- β -induced functions by confluence is likely due to the down regulation of the TGF- β receptors, as reported previously (Petridou et al., 2000), and as supported by data presented here that increasing cell density decreased TGF- β /Smad responsive luciferase reporter activity. Compliant substrates, conversely, did not affect luciferase activity, indicating that matrix rigidity likely regulates TGF- β -induced cell functions by a different mechanism than cell seeding density. One intriguing possibility is that in addition to restricting cell spreading, confluence induces apico-basal polarity (Balcarova-Stander et al., 1984; Rodriguez-Boulan and Nelson, 1989). Polarity has previously been shown to confer apoptosis resistance to mammary epithelial cells in 3D through a different mechanism than regulation of receptor

expression level (Weaver et al., 2002), but this work raises two interesting possibilities. One, are confluent, polarized monolayers in 2D resistant to apoptotic stimuli other than TGF- β ? And, two, if cells plated on compliant substrates were allowed to polarize before addition of TGF- β , would apoptosis be inhibited through receptor down regulation or some other mechanism? Additionally, it is still unclear how cells sense matrix rigidity, possibilities include changes in F-actin dynamics, cellular contractility, integrin binding, cell-cell adhesion, and focal adhesion formation (Chan and Odde, 2008; Fouchard et al., 2011; Huebsch et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2010; Yeung et al., 2005). It is also likely that several mechanisms are involved and that different mechanisms are important for different cell functions. Future studies to explore these questions will be invaluable towards the understanding of microenviromental regulation of TGF- β induced functions both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Chapter 5

Role of FAK in matrix rigidity-regulated apoptosis

5.1 Introduction

Matrix rigidity and TGF- β , independently, have been shown to regulate actin stress fiber and focal adhesion formation (Edlund et al., 2002; Miettinen et al., 1994; Pelham and Wang, 1997; Yeung et al., 2005). Additionally, focal adhesion kinase (FAK), one of the main signaling components within focal adhesions, can also be regulated by matrix rigidity and TGF- β 1 (Cicchini et al., 2008; Paszek et al., 2005; Walsh et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2004). Several studies have demonstrated that FAK is necessary for EMT in hepatocytes and renal tubular epithelial cells (Cicchini et al., 2008; Deng et al., 2010), and that FAK plays a prominent role in survival of several cell types, including epithelial cells and fibroblasts (Frisch et al., 1996; Ilic et al., 1998; Sonoda et al., 2000; Xia et al., 2004; Zouq et al., 2009). It is unknown, however, if cross talk between matrix rigidity and TGF- β regulates focal adhesion signaling to control apoptosis and EMT.

FAK activity and localization is regulated by cell-ECM adhesion. Cells adhere to the ECM through integrins, transmembrane receptors that consist of selectively paired α and β subunits which bind to different ECM molecules. Binding to the ECM induces integrin clustering, and this aggregation recruits intracellular scaffolding and signaling components to form focal adhesions and connections to the cytoskeleton. Over 50 proteins have been identified that localize to focal adhesions, including i) integrin-binding proteins, ii) adaptors and scaffolding enzymes, and iii) enzymes These protein complexes transmit and receive (Zaidel-Bar et al., 2007). mechanochemical information from the inside of the cell, and this signaling controls numerous downstream cellular functions, including proliferation, survival, motility, and transcription. Tyrosine phosphorylation by recruited kinases is one of the main signaling events that take place at focal adhesions. There are many kinases localized to focal adhesions, and FAK is one of the best characterized. FAK interacts with β integrin tails and localizes to focal adhesions (Chen et al., 2000; Schaller et al., 1992; Schaller et al., 1995). FAK is initially activated by integrin engagement which induces autophosphorylation at Y397 (Schaller et al., 1994). After phosphorylation at Y397, Src, another tyrosine kinase present in focal adhesions, binds to FAK and increases FAK activity by phosphorylating it at Y567 and Y577 (Calalb et al., 1995). Src also phosphorylates FAK at Y861 and Y925 to activate docking sites for other signaling components (Calalb et al., 1996; Schlaepfer et al., 1994; Schlaepfer et al., 1998) and activation of a number of downstream signaling pathways, including MAPKs (Schlaepfer et al., 1994), RhoGTPases (Medley et al., 2003; Zhai et al., 2003), and PI3K (Chen et al., 1996).

In the following chapter, we characterize the effects of matrix rigidity and TGF- β on the actin cytoskeleton, focal adhesion formation, and FAK. FAK's role in TGF- β -induced-EMT and apoptosis will also be explored.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 FAK is important for rigidity-regulated apoptosis but not EMT

To investigate whether FAK may be involved in this system, we first examined whether matrix compliance and TGF- β 1 modulated focal adhesion formation and FAK phosphorylation. Prominent focal adhesions, as indicated by punctate immunofluorescence staining for vinculin, and actin stress fibers were observed in NMuMGs cultured on rigid substrates (Fig. 5.1 A). On compliant substrates, focal adhesion markers were diffuse and cortical actin was observed (Fig. 5.1 B). Treatment with TGFβ1 qualitatively increased focal adhesion size on rigid substrates, but no effect was observed on compliant gels. We also observed increased phospho-FAK localization to focal adhesions by immunofluorescence, in a manner that directly correlated with vinculin localization (Fig. 5.1 A). Western blot analysis confirmed this observation, showing increased levels of phosphorylated Y397-FAK (Fig. 5.1 C and D). Interestingly, however, specific activity of FAK (pFAK normalized to total FAK) showed no significant difference between compliant and rigid gels, as FAK protein levels were greatly decreased on compliant gels. Decreased FAK expression and a lack of change in FAK specific activity on compliant gels suggest that compliance regulates FAK signaling primarily at the level of protein expression rather than its phosphorylation. To test this possibility, we overexpressed FAK using an adenoviral vector, and observed a decrease in TGF-\beta1-induced apoptosis on compliant gels, but



Figure 5.1 FAK expression is regulated by matrix rigidity.

(A,B) NMuMG cells immunostained for F-actin (green), nuclei (blue), vinculin (magenta), and phospho-FAK (yellow) on rigid (E=8 kPA) (A) and compliant (E=0.4 kPA) (B) gels. Inset shows magnification of vinculin (V), phospho-FAK (F), and merged (M) images. (C, D) Western blot and quantification of phospho-FAK (125 kD), total FAK (125 kD), and GAPDH (38 kD). Error bars indicate the SEM of at least three independent experiments. *, P < 0.05; ***, P<0.001, calculated by two-way ANOVA. Bars, 25 μ m. not a rescue of Snail mRNA expression (Fig. 5.2). Previous reports have shown decreased FAK expression on collagen gels due to FAK degradation by calpain (Wang et al., 2003b). In this system, however, we did not observe lower molecular weight bands associated with FAK degradation by western blot, and treatment with a calpain inhibitor, ALLN, did not increase FAK expression or inhibit apoptosis on compliant gels (data not shown). A caveat to this observation is that the inhibitor was used at 10 μ M, the concentration used in previous studies, and a higher concentration of 20 μ M caused death on compliant substrates, even before addition of TGF- β 1.

5.2.2 Manipulation of FAK activity does not affect apoptosis or EMT

While overexpression of wild type FAK rescued cell survival on compliant gels, expression of CD2-FAK, an activated FAK allele (Frisch et al., 1996), failed to inhibit apoptosis on compliant gels (Fig. 5.3 D and E). Further supporting this model, pharmacological inhibition of FAK activity with the small molecule inhibitor, PF 573228, reduced Y397 FAK phosphorylation, but did not affect EMT or apoptosis (Fig. 5.3 A, B, and C)., Expression of the dominant negative FRNK and the phosphorylation mutant FAK Y397F, both at physiological levels and highly overexpressed, did not reduce FAK phosphorylation at Y397, and did not affect TGF-β1-induced EMT or apoptosis (Fig. 5.3 D and E). These data suggest that matrix rigidity is regulating FAK signaling by modulating FAK protein levels, and that FAK levels in turn regulate compliance-induced apoptosis but not EMT.

5.2.3 Knockdown of FAK expression does not affect apoptosis

While FAK overexpression inhibited TGF-β1-induced apoptosis on compliant substrates, it was not clear if FAK expression was necessary for NMuMG survival on



Figure 5.2 FAK expression rescues survival on compliant gels but not EMT.

(A) Western blot of NMuMG cells infected with Ad-GFP or Ad-FAK. (B,C) Caspase-3 activity (B) and *Snai1* mRNA expression (C) in NMuMG cells infected with Ad-GFP or Ad-FAK cultured on rigid and compliant gels treated with TGF- β 1. Error bars indicate the SEM of at least three independent experiments. *, P < 0.05; **, P<0.01, calculated by two-way ANOVA.



Figure 5.3 Manipulation of FAK activity does not affect EMT or apoptosis. (A) Western blot of FAK (125 kD) and GAPDH control (38 kD) in NMuMG cells treated with 1, 5, and 10 μ M PF 573228 in NMuMG cells. (B, C) Graphs of caspase-3 activity (B) and *Snai1* mRNA expression (C) in NMuMG cells treated with 1 μ M PF 573228. (D, E) Western blot (D) and graph of caspase-3 activity (E) in NMuMG cells infected with Ad-GFP, Ad-FAK, Ad-CD2 FAK, Ad-FRNK, and Ad-Y397F FAK, plated on PA gels, and treated with TGF-β1. Error bars indicate the SEM of at least three independent experiments.

rigid substrates. Knockdown of FAK expression with short interfering RNA (siRNA) reduced FAK expression by approximately 80% as compared to lipofectamine or scrambled siRNA controls (Fig. 5.4). Despite decreased FAK expression, apoptosis was not affected with or without TGF- β 1 treatment (Fig. 5.4). We also did not observe increased death after siRNA transfection when comparing lipofectamine control or FAK siRNA conditions.


Figure 5.4 FAK knockdown does not increase apoptosis.

(A, B) Western blot (A) and graph of caspase-3 (B) activity in NMuMG cells transfected with lipofectamine control, scrambled siRNA control (scr.), FAK siRNA #1 and #2 (5 and 100 nM), and plated on compliant and rigid gels. Error bars represent SEM of four independent experiments.

5.3 Discussion

In this chapter, we investigated the role of matrix rigidity and TGF- β in regulating focal adhesion formation and FAK signaling. Similar to previous studies, compliant substrates inhibited stress fiber and focal adhesion formation (Pelham and Wang, 1997; Yeung et al., 2005). Here we show that while TGF- β can increase stress fiber and focal adhesion formation on rigid substrates, it was not sufficient to overcome inhibition by compliant substrates. Further investigation revealed compliance modulates FAK activity by protein expression and not phosphorylation. The decrease in FAK expression on compliant substrates agrees with a previous report (Wang et al., 2003b), and this work as well as others demonstrated a role for calpain in the proteolytic degradation of FAK (Carragher et al., 1999; Chan et al., 2010). However, inhibition of calpain with the pharmacological inhibitor ALLN did not rescue FAK expression or cell survival on compliant substrates in our system, although higher concentrations of ALLN could not be investigated due to increased cell death. In addition, most reports of FAK degradation by calpain used a collagen matrix (Bhadriraju et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2003b), and because we used fibronectin as our adhesive matrix, FAK degradation might be regulated by a different mechanism. Future studies are needed to delineate the mechanism regulating FAK expression, such as investigation of FAK mRNA expression or degradation by other enzymes, such as caspase-6 or 7 (Gervais et al., 1998; Wen et al., 1997). Rescue of FAK protein levels by adenoviral overexpression promoted cell survival on compliant substrates. However decreasing FAK expression using siRNA did not increase death, which may be due to insufficient knockdown, compensation by other factors such as Pyk2 (Lim et al., 2010), or that overexpression of

FAK inhibits apoptosis in a way that does not connect to the TGF- β 1-induced apoptosis observed on compliant substrates (Lim et al., 2008; Sonoda et al., 2000).

Contrary to previous reports, we did not find a role for FAK in regulating EMT (Cicchini et al., 2008; Deng et al., 2010). A more careful characterization of focal adhesion components, such as Src, zxyin, and paxillin, might reveal a role for focal adhesion signaling in the regulation of EMT (Mori et al., 2009; Tumbarello et al., 2005). Matrix rigidity might regulate EMT through other mechanisms related to cell-ECM adhesion as well, such as Rho activity or contractility (Bhowmick et al., 2001a; Cho and Yoo, 2007; Gomez et al., 2010). Investigation of these pathways using activated or dominant negative Rho mutants and contractility inhibitors, like ML-7 or blebbistatin, might reveal another level of control whereby matrix rigidity regulates EMT.

Chapter 6

Role of PI3K/Akt in matrix rigidity regulated EMT and apoptosis

6.1 Introduction

Because modulation of FAK expression regulated TGF- β 1-induced apoptosis but not EMT, we investigated whether other pathways might be regulated by rigidity and prove important for both survival and EMT. Akt is a prominent player in cell survival, proliferation, growth control, and metabolism and is often hijacked during tumor progression. Akt promotes cell survival through many mechanisms including inhibition of proapoptotic proteins such as BAD, caspase-9, and the forkhead transcription factor family, activation of NF- κ B, and antagonizing p53 (Brunet et al., 1999; Cardone et al., 1998; Datta et al., 1997; Kane et al., 1999; Mayo and Donner, 2001). Relevant to this work, TGF- β 1 can also induce phosphorylation of Akt and activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway is required for EMT in murine mammary epithelial cells and rat kidney epithelial cells (Bakin et al., 2000; Kattla et al., 2008). In addition, TGF- β 1-induced Akt activity also contributes to cell survival (Chen et al., 1998; Conery et al., 2004; Remy et al., 2004; Shin et al., 2001). Matrix adhesion is also a known regulator of PI3K and Akt (Armulik et al., 2004; Levental et al., 2009; Matter and Ruoslahti, 2001).

The Akt/protein kinase B (PKB) family of serine-threonine kinases consists of three members, Akt1/PKB α , Akt2/PKB β and Akt3/PKB γ . Activity of Akt is regulated by upstream signaling by phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) that upon activation by growth factors phosphorylates PIP2 to become PIP3. PIP3 interacts with the Pleckstrin homology (PH) domain of Akt promoting translocation to the plasma membrane and subsequent phosphorylation of Ser473 and Thr308. PDK1 phosphorylates Thr308, however the kinase that phosphorylates Ser473 has not been fully characterized, although some evidence exists for autophosphorylation or phosphorylation by integrin linked kinase (Persad et al., 2001; Stephens et al., 1998; Toker and Newton, 2000). Akt activity can be downregulated by PTEN phosphatase, which removes a phosphate from PIP3, and thereby induces Akt translocation away from the plasma membrane.

In this chapter, we examined the hypothesis that signals from matrix rigidity and TGF- β converge on PI3K/Akt to regulate the switch between EMT and apoptosis. We observed that both matrix rigidity and TGF- β 1 treatment stimulated Akt activity, and pharmacological inhibition of PI3K/Akt increased cell death and inhibited EMT. Increasing PI3K activity rescued cell survival but not EMT on compliant gels. Additional studies explore the regulation of other downstream members of the apoptotic response, including Bcl-2 family members and initiator caspases.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Matrix rigidity regulates apoptosis and EMT through PI3K and Akt

To investigate if substrate rigidity regulates the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway, we first measured Akt phosphorylation at serine 473. Because insulin is an essential component of the growth media of NMuMGs and insulin is known to stimulate Akt activity, exposure to insulin was included as a background control. In all cases, NMuMGs cultured on compliant gels showed decreased Akt activation compared to cells on rigid gels (Fig. 6.1). Treatment with TGF-B1 induced more apoptosis on compliant gels as compared to rigid gels with or without insulin treatment (Fig. 6.1 C). Inhibition of PI3K or Akt activity with pharmacological inhibitors increased TGF- β 1induced apoptosis in NMuMGs on rigid gels (Fig. 6.2 A and B). Inhibition of PI3K decreased Snail mRNA expression on rigid gels, however inhibition of Akt did not (Fig. 6.2 C). Although these studies suggest that PI3K is necessary for survival and EMT following TGF- β 1 treatment, it was not clear if it was also sufficient. We increased PI3K activity by adenoviral expression of a constitutively active p110-CAAX, a membrane localized subunit of PI3K, and observed suppression of apoptosis on compliant gels to similar levels observed on rigid gels (Fig. 6.3 A and B). p110-CAAX expression, however, did not rescue Snail mRNA expression on compliant gels (Fig. 6.3 C).

While increasing PI3K activity rescued cell survival, retroviral expression of a constitutively active Akt1 modified with the Src myristoylation sequence (myr-Akt1) did not affect apoptosis or EMT (Fig. 6.4). Expression was verified but no downstream targets were investigated. Akt may not be the key regulatory element in this system or



Figure 6.1 Akt activity is regulated by matrix rigidity

(A,B) Western blot (A) and quantification (B) of pAkt (60 kD), total Akt (60 kD), and GAPDH control (38 kD) in NMuMG cells plated on compliant (E=0.4 kPa) and rigid (E=8 kPa) polyacrylamide gels. (C) Caspase-3 activity in NMuMG cells. Error bars indicate the SEM of at least five independent experiments. *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01, calculated by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni posttests.



Figure 6.2 PI3K/Akt activity is necessary for EMT and cell survival

(A) Western blot of phospho-Akt, total Akt, and GAPDH in NMuMG cells treated with DMSO control, 10 μ M LY294002, or 1 μ M Akt inhibitor 8. (B,C) Graphs of caspase-3 activity (B) and *Snai1* mRNA expression (C) in NMuMG cells treated with DMSO, LY294002, or Akt inhibitor 8. Error bars indicate the SEM of at least three independent experiments. *, P < 0.05; **, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001, calculated by two-way ANOVA.



Figure 6.3 Increasing PI3K activity inhibits apoptosis but does not rescue EMT. (A) Western blot of phosphor-Akt, Akt, and GAPDH in NMuMG cells infected with Ad-GFP or Ad-p110. (B, C) Graphs of caspase-3 activity (B) and *Snai1* mRNA expression (C) in NMuMG cells infected with Ad-p110. Error bars indicate the SEM of at least three independent experiments. *, P < 0.05; **, P < 0.01; ***, P < 0.001, calculated by two-way ANOVA.



Figure 6.4 Myr-Akt1 does not affect apoptosis or EMT

(A) Western blot of Akt, myr-Akt1, and GAPDH in NMuMG cells. (B,C) Graphs of caspase-3 activity (B) and *Snai1* mRNA expression (C) in NMuMG cells infected with retro-GFP or retro-myr-Akt, plated on compliant and rigid PA gels, and treated with TGF-β1. Error bars indicate SEM of at least three independent experiments.

the construct may not act as a constitutively active Akt, tethering it to the membrane with the myristoylation sequence might somehow interfere with the function of Akt. Despite the lack of effect of the myr-Akt1 construct, data described above demonstrate a role for PI3K and Akt in transducing substrate compliance and regulating the compliance-induced switch in cellular response to TGF- β 1.

6.2.2 FAK manipulations do not regulate Akt activity

Previous work has shown that FAK plays an important role in cell survival through several mechanisms, including through regulation of Akt activity (Chen et al., 1996; Sonoda et al., 2000). Data from this work showed that FAK expression was decreased on compliant gels, and overexpression inhibited TGF-β1-induced apoptosis on compliant gels. In this system, however, Akt activity was not affected by FAK manipulations. FAK overexpression did not affect Akt phosphorylation or expression, and siRNA knockdown of FAK also did not affect Akt phosphorylation (Fig. 6.5 A and B).

6.2.3 Matrix rigidity regulates expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL

Previous studies have demonstrated that one way TGF- β induces apoptosis is by regulating Bcl-2 family members, including decreasing expression of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL (Chipuk et al., 2001; Motyl et al., 1998) and upregulating proapoptotic members such as Bax, Bim, and Bmf (Ramjaun et al., 2007; Yano et al., 2006). ECM adhesion has also been demonstrated to regulate Bcl-2 expression. α 5 β 1 integrin binding to fibronectin activates the PI3K/Akt pathway which upregulates Bcl-2 expression and enhances cell survival (Matter and Ruoslahti, 2001; Zhang et al., 1995). To investigate if Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL were regulated by matrix rigidity and TGF- β in this



Figure 6.5 FAK expression does not affect pAkt.

(A) Western blot of FAK, pAkt, and GAPDH in NMuMG cells overexpressing FAK.(B) Western blot of FAK, pAkt, and GAPDH in NMuMG cells transfected with lipofectamine control, scrambled siRNA control, FAK siRNA #1 and #2 (5 and 100 nM).

system, we analyzed protein expression in NMuMGs plated on compliant and rigid gels, in growth medium or treated with TGF- β 1. In all culture conditions, cells on compliant gels had reduced Bcl-2 expression as compared to rigid gels (Fig. 6.6). A slight but not significant reduction was also observed for Bcl-xL expression.

6.2.4 Role of initiator caspases in TGF-β1-induced apoptosis

Proapoptotic caspases, a family of cysteine proteases responsible for the execution of apoptotic cell death, are subdivided into two groups, initiator caspases, caspase-2, 8, 9, and 10, and effector caspases, caspase-3,6 and 7. Caspases are expressed in an inactive proenzyme form and are activated by proteolytic processing. The effector, or executioner, caspases are responsible for DNA degradation, nuclear condensation, and plasma membrane blebbing that are characteristic of apoptosis. The effector caspases become active after cleavage by the initiator caspases. Initiator caspases can be activated by two pathways, the extrinisic and intrinisic pathways. In the extrinisic pathway, ligand binding to a death receptor initiates apoptosis through the death inducing complex (DISC) and subsequent activation of caspase-8. The intrinsic, or mitochondrial, pathway is initiated by internal stressors such as DNA damage or hypoxia, and results in activation of caspase-9 and mitochondrial permeabilization.

Information about which pathway, extrinsic or intrinsic, is initiated after TGF- β treatment on compliant gels would aid in understanding how matrix rigidity regulates apoptosis (Frisch, 1999). NMuMG cells plated on compliant PA gels were treated with inhibitors to caspase-8 and -9, IETD-CHO and LEHD-CHO respectively, prior to TGF- β 1 treatment. Caspase-3 activity was reduced by the caspase-8 inhibitor at 10 μ M and by the caspase-9 inhibitor at 100 μ M (Figure 6.7). Because the inhibitors might affect



Figure 6.6 Matrix rigidity regulates Bcl-2 expression.

(A, B) Western blot (A) and quantification (B) of Bcl-xL (27 kD), Bcl-2 (26 kD), and GAPDH (38 kD) expression in NMuMG cells in growth media or treated with TGF- β 1, and plated on compliant and rigid gels. Error bars indicate SEM of four independent experiments. *, P<0.05 calculated by *t* test.



Figure 6.7 Inhibition of caspase-8 and caspase-9 inhibits apoptosis.

Graph of caspase 3 activity in NMuMG cells plated on compliant PA gels, treated with DMSO control, IETD (caspase-8), LEHD (caspase-9), and ZVAD (caspase-3) pharmacological inhibitor prior to TGF- β 1 treatment. Error bars indicate SEM of four independent experiments. ***, P<0.001 as compared to DMSO TGF- β 1 condition, calculated by one-way ANOVA.

other caspases, particularly at higher concentrations, more studies will need to be done, such as caspase-8 and caspase-9 activity assays, and further work to characterize apoptosis, such as nuclear fragmentation assays.

6.3 Discussion

Numerous previous studies have demonstrated the importance of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathways for cell survival (Dudek et al., 1997; Khwaja et al., 1997; Shin et al., 2001) and EMT (Bakin, A.V. et al., 2000, Kattla, J.J. et al., 2008). Here, we find that decreasing matrix rigidity inhibits PI3K/Akt activity, and through this action impinges on both survival and EMT. Increasing PI3K activity by adenoviral expression of a constitutively active p110 subunit of PI3K rescued cell survival but not EMT. While previous literature stated expression of p110 induced EMT in the absence of TGF- β 1, EMT in that study was only characterized by a loss of tight junctions, and there was no evidence of a morphology change or upregulation of mesenchymal markers (Bakin et al., 2000). Myr-Akt1 was also not sufficient to rescue EMT in our studies, although these results are not entirely surprising, given other work where downregulation of the Akt1 isoform induced EMT, and the Akt2 isoform was necessary for this transformation (Irie et al., 2005). Studies isolating each isoform, Akt1, 2, and 3, through overexpression and siRNA manipulations would likely help elucidate the role of matrix rigidity in regulating Akt and EMT induction in this system. Another important question that arises from the results in this chapter is how does matrix rigidity regulate PI3K/Akt? In this system, it does not appear that FAK is regulating PI3K/Akt activity, but there are other possibilities. Matrix rigidity could regulate integrin linked kinase (ILK), which has been postulated as the elusive second kinase responsible for phosphorylation of Ser473 (Delcommenne et al., 1998; Persad et al., 2001). Additionally, rigidity could modulate PTEN, a lipid phosphatase that antagonizes PI3K signaling, or traditional growth factor signaling upstream of PI3K.

Finally, work presented at the end of this chapter begins to dissect the apoptotic mechanism regulated by matrix rigidity and TGF- β 1. Matrix compliance downregulates Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL expression, and overexpression of Bcl-xL rescues cell survival, suggesting that apoptosis occurs through the intrinsic mitochondrial pathway. Pharmacological inhibition of the initiator caspase-8 and 9 reduced caspase-3 activity, however more work is needed to confirm the involvement of these caspases and the specificity of the inhibitors, such as caspase activity assays with the substrate specific to each caspase and, to avoid non-specific inhibition of caspase-3 activity, apoptosis assays such as nuclear fragmentation or TUNEL. Additionally, exploration of the role of FAK and Akt in the regulation of Bcl-2 family members and caspase activation will also yield valuable information on the regulation of apoptosis by both of these pathways.

Chapter 7

Conclusions and Future Directions

7.1 Conclusions

TGF- β regulates a diverse array of cellular functions, including proliferation, motility, and differentiation. How TGF- β regulates often divergent functions, particularly in disease contexts such as fibrosis and tumorigenesis, is not well understood. Here we demonstrate that matrix rigidity regulates a switch between TGF- β -induced apoptosis and EMT, and we investigated the signaling mechanisms involved in this switch.

In Chapter 4, we explored how varying cell adhesion to the ECM modulated the cellular response to TGF- β . Decreasing substrate rigidity increased TGF- β -induced apoptosis and inhibited EMT. Modulating cell-ECM adhesion by changing cell seeding density revealed that at confluence, a condition with decreased cell spreading and increased cell-cell contact, both apoptosis and EMT are inhibited. Finally, limiting ECM adhesion of single cells by microcontact printing, increased TGF- β -induced apoptosis, similar to compliant substrates, suggesting that limiting cell adhesion may be the mechanism whereby rigidity controls apoptosis.

The role of focal adhesion formation and signaling in regulating apoptosis and EMT was investigated in Chapter 5. Compliant matrices inhibited stress fiber and focal adhesion formation even with TGF-β1 treatment. Further investigation revealed FAK was regulated at the level of protein expression and not activity. Compliant matrices decreased expression of FAK, and overexpression of FAK rescued cell survival. Modulation of FAK activity, by a pharmacological inhibitor or various adenoviral expressed mutants, did not affect apoptosis or EMT.

Further mechanistic studies in Chapter 6 demonstrated that matrix rigidity regulates PI3K/Akt activity to control the switch in TGF-β1-induced apoptosis and EMT. Decreasing matrix rigidity inhibits PI3K/Akt activity, and through this action impinges on both survival and EMT. Increasing PI3K activity rescued survival but not EMT on compliant substrates. It is perhaps not surprising that upregulation of FAK or PI3K failed to rescue EMT on low rigidity substrates, given the many disparate processes that are collectively coordinated to drive EMT.

7.2 Future Directions

7.2.1 Further exploration of the cellular microenvironment

In this thesis, we have explored the role of the cellular microenvironment in regulating TGF- β -induced cell functions. Our results demonstrate that modulating the microenvironment, by changing substrate rigidity, cell seeding density, or cell spreading, can regulate TGF- β -induced apoptosis and EMT. Through the use of microcontact printing, we demonstrated that restricting cell spreading alone increases TGF- β 1-induced apoptosis. From other work in the lab, we have also observed that increasing cell-cell contact did not affect TGF- β 1-induced apoptosis, suggesting that

matrix rigidity is regulating apoptosis through changes in cell spreading and not cellcell adhesion (unpublished data). Previous studies have demonstrated a role for cell spreading, cell-cell adhesion, and contractility for induction of EMT, but whether these observations are true in the system used here remains to be seen (Gomez et al., 2010; Nelson et al., 2008). Although cell-cell adhesion did not appear to play a role at early time points, it would be interesting to observe if polarized multicellular structures are resistant to TGF- β -induced apoptosis or EMT (Weaver et al., 2002).

We have used fibronectin as the adhesive ligand in the studies presented here, but other matrices including collagen I and basement membrane proteins, such as laminins and collagen IV, would elucidate if certain integrins are important for the matrix rigidity regulated switch between apoptosis and EMT. These studies would also give extra insight into regulation of cell function during disease progression. In normal tissues, epithelial cells are in contact with a basement membrane, and during tumor progression and metastasis, tumor cells encounter different ECM components, such as collagen I. Additionally, the results presented here were limited to 2D studies, and it will be important to determine how the effects observed in this work translate to a 3D environment using methods discussed earlier, such as collagen and PEG gels.

7.2.2 Further elucidating molecular mechanisms regulated by matrix rigidity and TGF-β

The studies presented in this work demonstrate a role for FAK and Akt in regulating apoptosis, however there are several other mechanisms that warrant further study and will elucidate how matrix rigidity regulates TGF- β 1 induced apoptosis. As discussed in Chapter 2, a number of pathways can be activated downstream of TGF- β

that are also important for EMT and apoptosis, and it is likely that these pathways may also be involved in this switch, including MAPKs and RhoGTPases.

7.2.2.1 The role of EMT in cell survival

In Chapter 4, we explored the possibility that compliant substrates inhibit EMT by increasing TGF-β-induced apoptosis thus preventing EMT. Apoptosis occurred within hours of TGF-β treatment, however EMT could only be fully characterized after several days, leading us to ask whether cells on compliant substrates would undergo EMT at longer time points. To answer this question, we inhibited apoptosis and demonstrated that cells on compliant substrates, even with inhibition of apoptosis, were not able to fully undergo EMT. The reverse question could also be posed, though: does induction of EMT protect cells from apoptosis? Indeed, several reports from the literature show that after induction of EMT, cells become immune to TGF- β -induced apoptosis (Del Castillo et al., 2006; Gal et al., 2008; Robson et al., 2006; Valdes et al., 2002). Additionally, Snail, a transcription factor both necessary and sufficient for EMT, and the closely related Slug are also a survival factors (Franco et al., 2010; Leroy and Mostov, 2007; Vega et al., 2004). It would be interesting to overexpress Snail on compliant substrates and observe whether there is inhibition of apoptosis and induction of EMT. And, conversely, does siRNA knockdown of Snail on rigid substrates increase apoptosis and inhibit EMT? A more clear understanding of the role of Snail in EMT and apoptosis would help to delineate the interplay between these two functions and the regulation by matrix rigidity.

7.2.2.2 Further regulation of EMT and apoptosis by focal adhesions

We demonstrated that compliant substrates decreased FAK expression, and increasing FAK expression rescued cell survival. However, we did not identify the mechanism regulating FAK expression. We did not find a role for calpain mediated degradation as previous literature had reported, however previous studies used a collagen matrix and found a role for the discoidin domain receptors (DDR1 and 2) in FAK degradation (Bhadriraju et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2003b). Because we used fibronectin as our adhesive matrix, FAK degradation is likely regulated by a different mechanism. Future studies are needed to delineate the mechanism regulating FAK expression, such as investigation of FAK mRNA expression or degradation by other enzymes, such as caspase-6 or 7 (Gervais et al., 1998; Wen et al., 1997). Rescue of FAK protein levels by adenoviral overexpression promoted cell survival on compliant substrates. However decreasing FAK expression using siRNA did not increase death, which may be due to insufficient knockdown, or compensation by other factors such as Pyk2 (Lim et al., 2010). Observation of apoptosis during siRNA transfection might reveal that FAK is necessary for survival in these cell lines, and explain why increased siRNA concentration did not decrease FAK expression. Finally, investigation of Pyk2 expression and activity would reveal if Pyk2 compensation prevents increased apoptosis by FAK knockdown.

Contrary to previous reports, we did not find a role for FAK in regulating EMT (Cicchini et al., 2008; Deng et al., 2010). A previous study has reported compliance induced degradation of focal adhesion components in addition to FAK, including talin, paxillin, and p130Cas (Wang et al., 2003b). A more careful characterization of focal

adhesion components, such as Src, zxyin, and paxillin, in the system presented in this work might reveal a role for focal adhesion signaling in the regulation of EMT (Mori et al., 2009; Tumbarello et al., 2005). Additionally, if degradation of focal adhesion components was inhibited with a protease inhibitor, is induction of EMT restored and apoptosis prevented on compliant substrates? Further investigation into the role of focal adhesion regulation of EMT and apoptosis will further elucidate how matrix rigidity controls these processes.

7.2.2.3 Role of Rho-mediated contractility in matrix rigidity regulation of EMT and apoptosis

Matrix rigidity might regulate EMT and apoptosis through other mechanisms related to cell-ECM adhesion as well, such as Rho activity and contractility. Matrix rigidity has been shown to regulate Rho activity and actin stress fiber formation in a number of previous studies (Krndija et al., 2010; Paszek et al., 2005; Provenzano et al., 2009; Wozniak et al., 2003). TGF- β 1 also increases Rho activity and stress fiber formation (Bhowmick et al., 2001a; Cho and Yoo, 2007; Gomez et al., 2010). In this work, we observed stress fiber formation on rigid gels, which was increased with the addition of TGF- β 1, however we did not measure or manipulate Rho activity. Investigation of these pathways using activated or dominant negative Rho mutants and contractility inhibitors, like ML-7 or blebbistatin, would likely reveal another level of control whereby matrix rigidity regulates EMT.

7.3 Concluding Remarks

This thesis explores the role of matrix rigidity in regulating cell function. We demonstrated that varying matrix rigidity regulates a switch between TGF- β -induced apoptosis and EMT. We found that on compliant substrates, with a modulus similar to native breast tissue, TGF- β induces apoptosis, whereas on rigid substrates, with a modulus similar to tumor or fibrotic tissue, TGF-B induces EMT. Further investigation revealed matrix rigidity downregulates FAK expression and inhibits PI3K/Akt activity, and through this action impinges on both survival and EMT. As discussed in the future directions section, further studies are needed to fully understand the complex interplay between the cellular microenvironment, TGF- β , and the underlying signaling mechanisms. The work presented here provides a possible explanation for the switch in TGF- β 's action from tumor suppressor to promoter during tumorigenesis, and likely extends to other disease contexts such as atherosclerosis and fibrotic diseases, during which there is tissue stiffening and TGF- β is a major contributing factor. Furthermore, these studies highlight the central role for matrix mechanics in regulating cell signaling and fate, and stress the importance of considering physical factors in biological systems.

Bibliography

- Alcaraz, J., R. Xu, H. Mori, C.M. Nelson, R. Mroue, V.A. Spencer, D. Brownfield, D.C. Radisky, C. Bustamante, and M.J. Bissell. 2008. Laminin and biomimetic extracellular elasticity enhance functional differentiation in mammary epithelia. *EMBO J.* 27:2829-38.
- Alcorn, J.F., A.S. Guala, J. van der Velden, B. McElhinney, C.G. Irvin, R.J. Davis, and Y.M. Janssen-Heininger. 2008. Jun N-terminal kinase 1 regulates epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition induced by TGF-beta1. J Cell Sci. 121:1036-45.
- Annes, J.P., J.S. Munger, and D.B. Rifkin. 2003. Making sense of latent TGFbeta activation. J Cell Sci. 116:217-24.
- Annes, J.P., D.B. Rifkin, and J.S. Munger. 2002. The integrin alphaVbeta6 binds and activates latent TGFbeta3. *FEBS Lett.* 511:65-8.
- Ao, M., K. Williams, N.A. Bhowmick, and S.W. Hayward. 2006. Transforming growth factorbeta promotes invasion in tumorigenic but not in nontumorigenic human prostatic epithelial cells. *Cancer Res.* 66:8007-16.
- Armulik, A., T. Velling, and S. Johansson. 2004. The integrin beta1 subunit transmembrane domain regulates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of Crk-associated substrate. *Mol Biol Cell*. 15:2558-67.
- Arnold, M., E.A. Cavalcanti-Adam, R. Glass, J. Blummel, W. Eck, M. Kantlehner, H. Kessler, and J.P. Spatz. 2004. Activation of integrin function by nanopatterned adhesive interfaces. *Chemphyschem*. 5:383-8.
- Arteaga, C.L., T. Carty-Dugger, H.L. Moses, S.D. Hurd, and J.A. Pietenpol. 1993. Transforming growth factor beta 1 can induce estrogen-independent tumorigenicity of human breast cancer cells in athymic mice. *Cell Growth Differ*. 4:193-201.
- Assoian, R.K., G.R. Grotendorst, D.M. Miller, and M.B. Sporn. 1984. Cellular transformation by coordinated action of three peptide growth factors from human platelets. *Nature*. 309:804-6.
- Augst, A.D., H.J. Kong, and D.J. Mooney. 2006. Alginate hydrogels as biomaterials. *Macromol Biosci*. 6:623-33.
- Bacman, D., S. Merkel, R. Croner, T. Papadopoulos, W. Brueckl, and A. Dimmler. 2007. TGFbeta receptor 2 downregulation in tumour-associated stroma worsens prognosis and high-grade tumours show more tumour-associated macrophages and lower TGF-beta1 expression in colon carcinoma: a retrospective study. *BMC Cancer*. 7:156.
- Bakin, A.V., C. Rinehart, A.K. Tomlinson, and C.L. Arteaga. 2002. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is required for TGFbeta-mediated fibroblastic transdifferentiation and cell migration. *J Cell Sci.* 115:3193-206.

- Bakin, A.V., A.K. Tomlinson, N.A. Bhowmick, H.L. Moses, and C.L. Arteaga. 2000. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase function is required for transforming growth factor betamediated epithelial to mesenchymal transition and cell migration. *J Biol Chem*. 275:36803-10.
- Balcarova-Stander, J., S.E. Pfeiffer, S.D. Fuller, and K. Simons. 1984. Development of cell surface polarity in the epithelial Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cell line. *EMBO* J. 3:2687-94.
- Balgude, A.P., X. Yu, A. Szymanski, and R.V. Bellamkonda. 2001. Agarose gel stiffness determines rate of DRG neurite extension in 3D cultures. *Biomaterials*. 22:1077-84.
- Bandyopadhyay, A., Y. Zhu, M.L. Cibull, L. Bao, C. Chen, and L. Sun. 1999. A soluble transforming growth factor beta type III receptor suppresses tumorigenicity and metastasis of human breast cancer MDA-MB-231 cells. *Cancer Res.* 59:5041-6.
- Barocas, V.H., T.S. Girton, and R.T. Tranquillo. 1998. Engineered alignment in media equivalents: magnetic prealignment and mandrel compaction. *J Biomech Eng.* 120:660-6.
- Barrios-Rodiles, M., K.R. Brown, B. Ozdamar, R. Bose, Z. Liu, R.S. Donovan, F. Shinjo, Y. Liu, J. Dembowy, I.W. Taylor, V. Luga, N. Przulj, M. Robinson, H. Suzuki, Y. Hayashizaki, I. Jurisica, and J.L. Wrana. 2005. High-throughput mapping of a dynamic signaling network in mammalian cells. *Science*. 307:1621-5.
- Beningo, K.A., C.M. Lo, and Y.L. Wang. 2002. Flexible polyacrylamide substrata for the analysis of mechanical interactions at cell-substratum adhesions. *Methods Cell Biol*. 69:325-39.
- Bhadriraju, K., K.H. Chung, T.A. Spurlin, R.J. Haynes, J.T. Elliott, and A.L. Plant. 2009. The relative roles of collagen adhesive receptor DDR2 activation and matrix stiffness on the downregulation of focal adhesion kinase in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biomaterials*. 30:6687-94.
- Bhowmick, N.A., M. Ghiassi, A. Bakin, M. Aakre, C.A. Lundquist, M.E. Engel, C.L. Arteaga, and H.L. Moses. 2001a. Transforming growth factor-beta1 mediates epithelial to mesenchymal transdifferentiation through a RhoA-dependent mechanism. *Mol Biol Cell*. 12:27-36.
- Bhowmick, N.A., R. Zent, M. Ghiassi, M. McDonnell, and H.L. Moses. 2001b. Integrin beta 1 signaling is necessary for transforming growth factor-beta activation of p38MAPK and epithelial plasticity. *J Biol Chem*. 276:46707-13.
- Bierie, B., and H.L. Moses. 2006. Tumour microenvironment: TGFbeta: the molecular Jekyll and Hyde of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 6:506-20.
- Blomback, B., and N. Bark. 2004. Fibrinopeptides and fibrin gel structure. *Biophys Chem*. 112:147-51.

- Boontheekul, T., E.E. Hill, H.J. Kong, and D.J. Mooney. 2007. Regulating myoblast phenotype through controlled gel stiffness and degradation. *Tissue Eng.* 13:1431-42.
- Bottinger, E.P., J.L. Jakubczak, D.C. Haines, K. Bagnall, and L.M. Wakefield. 1997. Transgenic mice overexpressing a dominant-negative mutant type II transforming growth factor beta receptor show enhanced tumorigenesis in the mammary gland and lung in response to the carcinogen 7,12-dimethylbenz-[a]-anthracene. *Cancer Res*. 57:5564-70.
- Boyer, B., A.M. Valles, and N. Edme. 2000. Induction and regulation of epithelialmesenchymal transitions. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 60:1091-9.
- Brunet, A., A. Bonni, M.J. Zigmond, M.Z. Lin, P. Juo, L.S. Hu, M.J. Anderson, K.C. Arden, J. Blenis, and M.E. Greenberg. 1999. Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. *Cell*. 96:857-68.
- Burns-Cox, N., N.C. Avery, J.C. Gingell, and A.J. Bailey. 2001. Changes in collagen metabolism in prostate cancer: a host response that may alter progression. *J Urol*. 166:1698-701.
- Calalb, M.B., T.R. Polte, and S.K. Hanks. 1995. Tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase at sites in the catalytic domain regulates kinase activity: a role for Src family kinases. *Mol Cell Biol.* 15:954-63.
- Calalb, M.B., X. Zhang, T.R. Polte, and S.K. Hanks. 1996. Focal adhesion kinase tyrosine-861 is a major site of phosphorylation by Src. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 228:662-8.
- Cardone, M.H., N. Roy, H.R. Stennicke, G.S. Salvesen, T.F. Franke, E. Stanbridge, S. Frisch, and J.C. Reed. 1998. Regulation of cell death protease caspase-9 by phosphorylation. *Science*. 282:1318-21.
- Carragher, N.O., B. Levkau, R. Ross, and E.W. Raines. 1999. Degraded collagen fragments promote rapid disassembly of smooth muscle focal adhesions that correlates with cleavage of pp125(FAK), paxillin, and talin. *J Cell Biol*. 147:619-30.
- Chan, C.E., and D.J. Odde. 2008. Traction dynamics of filopodia on compliant substrates. *Science*. 322:1687-91.
- Chan, K.T., D.A. Bennin, and A. Huttenlocher. 2010. Regulation of adhesion dynamics by calpain-mediated proteolysis of focal adhesion kinase (FAK). *J Biol Chem*. 285:11418-26.
- Chen, C.S., M. Mrksich, S. Huang, G.M. Whitesides, and D.E. Ingber. 1997. Geometric control of cell life and death. *Science*. 276:1425-8.
- Chen, H.C., P.A. Appeddu, H. Isoda, and J.L. Guan. 1996. Phosphorylation of tyrosine 397 in focal adhesion kinase is required for binding phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *J Biol Chem.* 271:26329-34.

- Chen, L.M., D. Bailey, and C. Fernandez-Valle. 2000. Association of beta 1 integrin with focal adhesion kinase and paxillin in differentiating Schwann cells. *J Neurosci*. 20:3776-84.
- Chen, R.H., Y.H. Su, R.L. Chuang, and T.Y. Chang. 1998. Suppression of transforming growth factor-beta-induced apoptosis through a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt-dependent pathway. *Oncogene*. 17:1959-68.
- Cheng, E.H., M.C. Wei, S. Weiler, R.A. Flavell, T.W. Mak, T. Lindsten, and S.J. Korsmeyer. 2001. BCL-2, BCL-X(L) sequester BH3 domain-only molecules preventing BAX- and BAK-mediated mitochondrial apoptosis. *Mol Cell*. 8:705-11.
- Chipuk, J.E., M. Bhat, A.Y. Hsing, J. Ma, and D. Danielpour. 2001. Bcl-xL blocks transforming growth factor-beta 1-induced apoptosis by inhibiting cytochrome c release and not by directly antagonizing Apaf-1-dependent caspase activation in prostate epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem.* 276:26614-21.
- Cho, H.J., K.E. Baek, S. Saika, M.J. Jeong, and J. Yoo. 2007. Snail is required for transforming growth factor-beta-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition by activating PI3 kinase/Akt signal pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 353:337-43.
- Cho, H.J., and J. Yoo. 2007. Rho activation is required for transforming growth factor-betainduced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in lens epithelial cells. *Cell Biol Int.* 31:1225-30.
- Cicchini, C., I. Laudadio, F. Citarella, M. Corazzari, C. Steindler, A. Conigliaro, A. Fantoni, L. Amicone, and M. Tripodi. 2008. TGFbeta-induced EMT requires focal adhesion kinase (FAK) signaling. *Exp Cell Res.* 314:143-52.
- Conery, A.R., Y. Cao, E.A. Thompson, C.M. Townsend, Jr., T.C. Ko, and K. Luo. 2004. Akt interacts directly with Smad3 to regulate the sensitivity to TGF-beta induced apoptosis. *Nat Cell Biol*. 6:366-72.
- Cui, W., D.J. Fowlis, S. Bryson, E. Duffie, H. Ireland, A. Balmain, and R.J. Akhurst. 1996. TGFbeta1 inhibits the formation of benign skin tumors, but enhances progression to invasive spindle carcinomas in transgenic mice. *Cell*. 86:531-42.
- Datta, S.R., H. Dudek, X. Tao, S. Masters, H. Fu, Y. Gotoh, and M.E. Greenberg. 1997. Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. *Cell*. 91:231-41.
- Datto, M.B., Y. Li, J.F. Panus, D.J. Howe, Y. Xiong, and X.F. Wang. 1995. Transforming growth factor beta induces the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 through a p53-independent mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*. 92:5545-9.
- de Larco, J.E., and G.J. Todaro. 1978. Growth factors from murine sarcoma virus-transformed cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 75:4001-5.
- Dechene, A., J.P. Sowa, R.K. Gieseler, C. Jochum, L.P. Bechmann, A. El Fouly, M. Schlattjan, F. Saner, H.A. Baba, A. Paul, V. Dries, M. Odenthal, G. Gerken, S.L. Friedman, and A.

Canbay. 2010. Acute liver failure is associated with elevated liver stiffness and hepatic stellate cell activation. *Hepatology*. 52:1008-16.

- Del Castillo, G., M.M. Murillo, A. Alvarez-Barrientos, E. Bertran, M. Fernandez, A. Sanchez, and I. Fabregat. 2006. Autocrine production of TGF-beta confers resistance to apoptosis after an epithelial-mesenchymal transition process in hepatocytes: Role of EGF receptor ligands. *Exp Cell Res.* 312:2860-71.
- Delcommenne, M., C. Tan, V. Gray, L. Rue, J. Woodgett, and S. Dedhar. 1998. Phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase-dependent regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 and protein kinase B/AKT by the integrin-linked kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 95:11211-6.
- Deng, B., X. Yang, J. Liu, F. He, Z. Zhu, and C. Zhang. 2010. Focal adhesion kinase mediates TGF-beta1-induced renal tubular epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in vitro. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 340:21-9.
- Derynck, R., D.V. Goeddel, A. Ullrich, J.U. Gutterman, R.D. Williams, T.S. Bringman, and W.H. Berger. 1987. Synthesis of messenger RNAs for transforming growth factors alpha and beta and the epidermal growth factor receptor by human tumors. *Cancer Res.* 47:707-12.
- Dickson, R.B., A. Kasid, K.K. Huff, S.E. Bates, C. Knabbe, D. Bronzert, E.P. Gelmann, and M.E. Lippman. 1987. Activation of growth factor secretion in tumorigenic states of breast cancer induced by 17 beta-estradiol or v-Ha-ras oncogene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A. 84:837-41.
- Dudek, H., S.R. Datta, T.F. Franke, M.J. Birnbaum, R. Yao, G.M. Cooper, R.A. Segal, D.R. Kaplan, and M.E. Greenberg. 1997. Regulation of neuronal survival by the serine-threonine protein kinase Akt. *Science*. 275:661-5.
- Ebihara, T., N. Venkatesan, R. Tanaka, and M.S. Ludwig. 2000. Changes in extracellular matrix and tissue viscoelasticity in bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis. Temporal aspects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 162:1569-76.
- Edlund, S., M. Landstrom, C.H. Heldin, and P. Aspenstrom. 2002. Transforming growth factorbeta-induced mobilization of actin cytoskeleton requires signaling by small GTPases Cdc42 and RhoA. *Mol Biol Cell*. 13:902-14.
- Elbjeirami, W.M., E.O. Yonter, B.C. Starcher, and J.L. West. 2003. Enhancing mechanical properties of tissue-engineered constructs via lysyl oxidase crosslinking activity. *J Biomed Mater Res A*. 66:513-21.
- Engle, S.J., J.B. Hoying, G.P. Boivin, I. Ormsby, P.S. Gartside, and T. Doetschman. 1999. Transforming growth factor beta1 suppresses nonmetastatic colon cancer at an early stage of tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res.* 59:3379-86.
- Engler, A.J., M.A. Griffin, S. Sen, C.G. Bonnemann, H.L. Sweeney, and D.E. Discher. 2004. Myotubes differentiate optimally on substrates with tissue-like stiffness: pathological implications for soft or stiff microenvironments. *J Cell Biol*. 166:877-87.

- Engler, A.J., S. Sen, H.L. Sweeney, and D.E. Discher. 2006. Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. *Cell*. 126:677-89.
- Fouchard, J., D. Mitrossilis, and A. Asnacios. 2011. Acto-myosin based response to stiffness and rigidity sensing. *Cell Adh Migr*. 5.
- Francis, J.M., C.M. Heyworth, E. Spooncer, A. Pierce, T.M. Dexter, and A.D. Whetton. 2000. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 induces apoptosis independently of p53 and selectively reduces expression of Bcl-2 in multipotent hematopoietic cells. *J Biol Chem*. 275:39137-45.
- Franco, D.L., J. Mainez, S. Vega, P. Sancho, M.M. Murillo, C.A. de Frutos, G. Del Castillo, C. Lopez-Blau, I. Fabregat, and M.A. Nieto. 2010. Snail1 suppresses TGF-beta-induced apoptosis and is sufficient to trigger EMT in hepatocytes. *J Cell Sci*. 123:3467-77.
- Frey, R.S., and K.M. Mulder. 1997. Involvement of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 2 and stress-activated protein kinase/Jun N-terminal kinase activation by transforming growth factor beta in the negative growth control of breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 57:628-33.
- Friedland, J.C., M.H. Lee, and D. Boettiger. 2009. Mechanically activated integrin switch controls alpha5beta1 function. *Science*. 323:642-4.
- Friess, H., Y. Yamanaka, M. Buchler, M. Ebert, H.G. Beger, L.I. Gold, and M. Korc. 1993. Enhanced expression of transforming growth factor beta isoforms in pancreatic cancer correlates with decreased survival. *Gastroenterology*. 105:1846-56.
- Fringer, J., and F. Grinnell. 2001. Fibroblast quiescence in floating or released collagen matrices: contribution of the ERK signaling pathway and actin cytoskeletal organization. *J Biol Chem*. 276:31047-52.
- Frisch, S.M. 1999. Evidence for a function of death-receptor-related, death-domain-containing proteins in anoikis. *Curr Biol.* 9:1047-9.
- Frisch, S.M., and H. Francis. 1994. Disruption of epithelial cell-matrix interactions induces apoptosis. *J Cell Biol*. 124:619-26.
- Frisch, S.M., K. Vuori, E. Ruoslahti, and P.Y. Chan-Hui. 1996. Control of adhesion-dependent cell survival by focal adhesion kinase. *J Cell Biol*. 134:793-9.
- Fu, J., Y.K. Wang, M.T. Yang, R.A. Desai, X. Yu, Z. Liu, and C.S. Chen. 2010. Mechanical regulation of cell function with geometrically modulated elastomeric substrates. *Nat Methods*. 7:733-6.
- Fuard, D., T. Tzvetkova-Chevolleau, S. Decossas, P. Tracqui, and P. Schiavone. 2008. Optimization of poly-di-methyl-siloxane (PDMS) substrates for studying cellular adhesion and motility. *MICROELECTRONIC ENGINEERING*. 85:1289-1293.
- Fukai, Y., M. Fukuchi, N. Masuda, H. Osawa, H. Kato, T. Nakajima, and H. Kuwano. 2003. Reduced expression of transforming growth factor-beta receptors is an unfavorable

prognostic factor in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Cancer*. 104:161-6.

- Gal, A., T. Sjoblom, L. Fedorova, S. Imreh, H. Beug, and A. Moustakas. 2008. Sustained TGF beta exposure suppresses Smad and non-Smad signalling in mammary epithelial cells, leading to EMT and inhibition of growth arrest and apoptosis. *Oncogene*. 27:1218-30.
- Galliher, A.J., and W.P. Schiemann. 2007. Src phosphorylates Tyr284 in TGF-beta type II receptor and regulates TGF-beta stimulation of p38 MAPK during breast cancer cell proliferation and invasion. *Cancer Res.* 67:3752-8.
- Ge, G., and D.S. Greenspan. 2006. BMP1 controls TGFbeta1 activation via cleavage of latent TGFbeta-binding protein. *J Cell Biol*. 175:111-20.
- Gehler, S., M. Baldassarre, Y. Lad, J.L. Leight, M.A. Wozniak, K.M. Riching, K.W. Eliceiri, V.M. Weaver, D.A. Calderwood, and P.J. Keely. 2009. Filamin A-beta1 integrin complex tunes epithelial cell response to matrix tension. *Mol Biol Cell*. 20:3224-38.
- Genes, N.G., J.A. Rowley, D.J. Mooney, and L.J. Bonassar. 2004. Effect of substrate mechanics on chondrocyte adhesion to modified alginate surfaces. *Arch Biochem Biophys*. 422:161-7.
- Georges, P.C., W.J. Miller, D.F. Meaney, E.S. Sawyer, and P.A. Janmey. 2006. Matrices with compliance comparable to that of brain tissue select neuronal over glial growth in mixed cortical cultures. *Biophys J.* 90:3012-8.
- Gervais, F.G., N.A. Thornberry, S.C. Ruffolo, D.W. Nicholson, and S. Roy. 1998. Caspases cleave focal adhesion kinase during apoptosis to generate a FRNK-like polypeptide. *J Biol Chem.* 273:17102-8.
- Ghajar, C.M., X. Chen, J.W. Harris, V. Suresh, C.C. Hughes, N.L. Jeon, A.J. Putnam, and S.C. George. 2008. The effect of matrix density on the regulation of 3-D capillary morphogenesis. *Biophys J*. 94:1930-41.
- Gilbert, P.M., K.L. Havenstrite, K.E. Magnusson, A. Sacco, N.A. Leonardi, P. Kraft, N.K. Nguyen, S. Thrun, M.P. Lutolf, and H.M. Blau. 2010. Substrate elasticity regulates skeletal muscle stem cell self-renewal in culture. *Science*. 329:1078-81.
- Girton, T.S., T.R. Oegema, E.D. Grassl, B.C. Isenberg, and R.T. Tranquillo. 2000. Mechanisms of stiffening and strengthening in media-equivalents fabricated using glycation. *J Biomech Eng.* 122:216-23.
- Go, C., P. Li, and X.J. Wang. 1999. Blocking transforming growth factor beta signaling in transgenic epidermis accelerates chemical carcinogenesis: a mechanism associated with increased angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 59:2861-8.
- Godoy, P., J.G. Hengstler, I. Ilkavets, C. Meyer, A. Bachmann, A. Muller, G. Tuschl, S.O. Mueller, and S. Dooley. 2009. Extracellular matrix modulates sensitivity of hepatocytes to fibroblastoid dedifferentiation and transforming growth factor beta-induced apoptosis. *Hepatology*. 49:2031-43.

- Gomez, E.W., Q.K. Chen, N. Gjorevski, and C.M. Nelson. 2010. Tissue geometry patterns epithelial-mesenchymal transition via intercellular mechanotransduction. *J Cell Biochem*. 110:44-51.
- Gottfried, Y., A. Rotem, R. Lotan, H. Steller, and S. Larisch. 2004. The mitochondrial ARTS protein promotes apoptosis through targeting XIAP. *EMBO J*. 23:1627-35.
- Grande, M., A. Franzen, J.O. Karlsson, L.E. Ericson, N.E. Heldin, and M. Nilsson. 2002. Transforming growth factor-beta and epidermal growth factor synergistically stimulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) through a MEK-dependent mechanism in primary cultured pig thyrocytes. *J Cell Sci.* 115:4227-36.
- Gray, D.S., J. Tien, and C.S. Chen. 2003. Repositioning of cells by mechanotaxis on surfaces with micropatterned Young's modulus. *J Biomed Mater Res A*. 66:605-14.
- Grille, S.J., A. Bellacosa, J. Upson, A.J. Klein-Szanto, F. van Roy, W. Lee-Kwon, M. Donowitz, P.N. Tsichlis, and L. Larue. 2003. The protein kinase Akt induces epithelial mesenchymal transition and promotes enhanced motility and invasiveness of squamous cell carcinoma lines. *Cancer Res.* 63:2172-8.
- Grinnell, F. 2000. Fibroblast-collagen-matrix contraction: growth-factor signalling and mechanical loading. *Trends Cell Biol.* 10:362-5.
- Gunn, J.W., S.D. Turner, and B.K. Mann. 2005. Adhesive and mechanical properties of hydrogels influence neurite extension. *J Biomed Mater Res A*. 72:91-7.
- Hannon, G.J., and D. Beach. 1994. p15INK4B is a potential effector of TGF-beta-induced cell cycle arrest. *Nature*. 371:257-61.
- Hartsough, M.T., and K.M. Mulder. 1995. Transforming growth factor beta activation of p44mapk in proliferating cultures of epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem*. 270:7117-24.
- Herzer, K., A. Grosse-Wilde, P.H. Krammer, P.R. Galle, and S. Kanzler. 2008. Transforming growth factor-beta-mediated tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand expression and apoptosis in hepatoma cells requires functional cooperation between Smad proteins and activator protein-1. *Mol Cancer Res.* 6:1169-77.
- Hocevar, B.A., T.L. Brown, and P.H. Howe. 1999. TGF-beta induces fibronectin synthesis through a c-Jun N-terminal kinase-dependent, Smad4-independent pathway. *EMBO J*. 18:1345-56.
- Hockel, M., and P. Vaupel. 2001. Biological consequences of tumor hypoxia. *Semin Oncol.* 28:36-41.
- Hojo, M., T. Morimoto, M. Maluccio, T. Asano, K. Morimoto, M. Lagman, T. Shimbo, and M. Suthanthiran. 1999. Cyclosporine induces cancer progression by a cell-autonomous mechanism. *Nature*. 397:530-4.
- Hong, K.O., J.H. Kim, J.S. Hong, H.J. Yoon, J.I. Lee, S.P. Hong, and S.D. Hong. 2009. Inhibition of Akt activity induces the mesenchymal-to-epithelial reverting transition

with restoring E-cadherin expression in KB and KOSCC-25B oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res.* 28:28.

- Hsiong, S.X., P. Carampin, H.J. Kong, K.Y. Lee, and D.J. Mooney. 2008. Differentiation stage alters matrix control of stem cells. *J Biomed Mater Res A*. 85:145-56.
- Hubchak, S.C., E.E. Sparks, T. Hayashida, and H.W. Schnaper. 2009. Rac1 promotes TGFbeta-stimulated mesangial cell type I collagen expression through a PI3K/Aktdependent mechanism. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*. 297:F1316-23.
- Huebsch, N., P.R. Arany, A.S. Mao, D. Shvartsman, O.A. Ali, S.A. Bencherif, J. Rivera-Feliciano, and D.J. Mooney. 2010. Harnessing traction-mediated manipulation of the cell/matrix interface to control stem-cell fate. *Nat Mater*. 9:518-26.
- Hynes, R.O. 2009. The extracellular matrix: not just pretty fibrils. Science. 326:1216-9.
- Iavarone, A., and J. Massague. 1997. Repression of the CDK activator Cdc25A and cell-cycle arrest by cytokine TGF-beta in cells lacking the CDK inhibitor p15. *Nature*. 387:417-22.
- Ilic, D., E.A. Almeida, D.D. Schlaepfer, P. Dazin, S. Aizawa, and C.H. Damsky. 1998. Extracellular matrix survival signals transduced by focal adhesion kinase suppress p53mediated apoptosis. *J Cell Biol*. 143:547-60.
- Irie, H.Y., R.V. Pearline, D. Grueneberg, M. Hsia, P. Ravichandran, N. Kothari, S. Natesan, and J.S. Brugge. 2005. Distinct roles of Akt1 and Akt2 in regulating cell migration and epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *J Cell Biol.* 171:1023-34.
- Itoh, S., M. Thorikay, M. Kowanetz, A. Moustakas, F. Itoh, C.H. Heldin, and P. ten Dijke. 2003. Elucidation of Smad requirement in transforming growth factor-beta type I receptor-induced responses. *J Biol Chem.* 278:3751-61.
- Janda, E., K. Lehmann, I. Killisch, M. Jechlinger, M. Herzig, J. Downward, H. Beug, and S. Grunert. 2002. Ras and TGF[beta] cooperatively regulate epithelial cell plasticity and metastasis: dissection of Ras signaling pathways. *J Cell Biol*. 156:299-313.
- Jang, C.W., C.H. Chen, C.C. Chen, J.Y. Chen, Y.H. Su, and R.H. Chen. 2002. TGF-beta induces apoptosis through Smad-mediated expression of DAP-kinase. *Nat Cell Biol*. 4:51-8.
- Johnson, K.R., J.L. Leight, and V.M. Weaver. 2007. Demystifying the effects of a threedimensional microenvironment in tissue morphogenesis. *Methods Cell Biol*. 83:547-83.
- Kaklamani, V.G., L. Baddi, J. Liu, D. Rosman, S. Phukan, C. Bradley, C. Hegarty, B.
 McDaniel, A. Rademaker, C. Oddoux, H. Ostrer, L.S. Michel, H. Huang, Y. Chen, H.
 Ahsan, K. Offit, and B. Pasche. 2005. Combined genetic assessment of transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathway variants may predict breast cancer risk. *Cancer Res.* 65:3454-61.

- Kane, L.P., V.S. Shapiro, D. Stokoe, and A. Weiss. 1999. Induction of NF-kappaB by the Akt/PKB kinase. *Curr Biol*. 9:601-4.
- Kattla, J.J., R.M. Carew, M. Heljic, C. Godson, and D.P. Brazil. 2008. Protein kinase B/Akt activity is involved in renal TGF-beta1-driven epithelial-mesenchymal transition in vitro and in vivo. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 295:F215-25.
- Kauppila, S., F. Stenback, J. Risteli, A. Jukkola, and L. Risteli. 1998. Aberrant type I and type III collagen gene expression in human breast cancer in vivo. *J Pathol.* 186:262-8.
- Khaled, W., S. Reichling, O.T. Bruhns, H. Boese, M. Baumann, G. Monkman, S. Egersdoerfer, D. Klein, A. Tunayar, H. Freimuth, A. Lorenz, A. Pessavento, and H. Ermert. 2004.
 Palpation imaging using a haptic system for virtual reality applications in medicine. Stud Health Technol Inform. 98:147-53.
- Khwaja, A., P. Rodriguez-Viciana, S. Wennstrom, P.H. Warne, and J. Downward. 1997. Matrix adhesion and Ras transformation both activate a phosphoinositide 3-OH kinase and protein kinase B/Akt cellular survival pathway. *EMBO J.* 16:2783-93.
- Kim, S.G., H.S. Jong, T.Y. Kim, J.W. Lee, N.K. Kim, S.H. Hong, and Y.J. Bang. 2004. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 induces apoptosis through Fas ligand-independent activation of the Fas death pathway in human gastric SNU-620 carcinoma cells. *Mol Biol Cell*. 15:420-34.
- Klein, E.A., L. Yin, D. Kothapalli, P. Castagnino, F.J. Byfield, T. Xu, I. Levental, E. Hawthorne, P.A. Janmey, and R.K. Assoian. 2009. Cell-cycle control by physiological matrix elasticity and in vivo tissue stiffening. *Curr Biol.* 19:1511-8.
- Klein, T., S. Rizzi, K. Schrobback, J. Reichert, J. Jeon, R. Crawford, and D. Hutmacher. 2010. Long-term effects of hydrogel properties on human chondrocyte behavior. *Soft Matter*. 6:5175-5183.
- Krndija, D., H. Schmid, J.L. Eismann, U. Lother, G. Adler, F. Oswald, T. Seufferlein, and G. von Wichert. 2010. Substrate stiffness and the receptor-type tyrosine-protein phosphatase alpha regulate spreading of colon cancer cells through cytoskeletal contractility. *Oncogene*. 29:2724-38.
- Lagna, G., A. Hata, A. Hemmati-Brivanlou, and J. Massague. 1996. Partnership between DPC4 and SMAD proteins in TGF-beta signalling pathways. *Nature*. 383:832-6.
- Larisch-Bloch, S., D. Danielpour, N.S. Roche, R. Lotan, A.Y. Hsing, H. Kerner, T. Hajouj, R.J. Lechleider, and A.B. Roberts. 2000. Selective loss of the transforming growth factorbeta apoptotic signaling pathway in mutant NRP-154 rat prostatic epithelial cells. *Cell Growth Differ*. 11:1-10.
- Lee, J.M., S. Dedhar, R. Kalluri, and E.W. Thompson. 2006. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition: new insights in signaling, development, and disease. *J Cell Biol*. 172:973-81.

- Lee, M.K., C. Pardoux, M.C. Hall, P.S. Lee, D. Warburton, J. Qing, S.M. Smith, and R. Derynck. 2007. TGF-beta activates Erk MAP kinase signalling through direct phosphorylation of ShcA. *EMBO J.* 26:3957-67.
- Leroy, P., and K.E. Mostov. 2007. Slug is required for cell survival during partial epithelialmesenchymal transition of HGF-induced tubulogenesis. *Mol Biol Cell*. 18:1943-52.
- Levental, I., P. Georges, and P. Janmey. 2007. Soft biological materials and their impact on cell function. *Soft Matter*. 3:299-306.
- Levental, K.R., H. Yu, L. Kass, J.N. Lakins, M. Egeblad, J.T. Erler, S.F. Fong, K. Csiszar, A. Giaccia, W. Weninger, M. Yamauchi, D.L. Gasser, and V.M. Weaver. 2009. Matrix crosslinking forces tumor progression by enhancing integrin signaling. *Cell*. 139:891-906.
- Levy, L., and C.S. Hill. 2005. Smad4 dependency defines two classes of transforming growth factor {beta} (TGF-{beta}) target genes and distinguishes TGF-{beta}-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition from its antiproliferative and migratory responses. *Mol Cell Biol.* 25:8108-25.
- Li, Z., J.A. Dranoff, E.P. Chan, M. Uemura, J. Sevigny, and R.G. Wells. 2007. Transforming growth factor-beta and substrate stiffness regulate portal fibroblast activation in culture. *Hepatology*. 46:1246-56.
- Lim, S.T., X.L. Chen, Y. Lim, D.A. Hanson, T.T. Vo, K. Howerton, N. Larocque, S.J. Fisher, D.D. Schlaepfer, and D. Ilic. 2008. Nuclear FAK promotes cell proliferation and survival through FERM-enhanced p53 degradation. *Mol Cell*. 29:9-22.
- Lim, S.T., N.L. Miller, J.O. Nam, X.L. Chen, Y. Lim, and D.D. Schlaepfer. 2010. Pyk2 inhibition of p53 as an adaptive and intrinsic mechanism facilitating cell proliferation and survival. *J Biol Chem*. 285:1743-53.
- Lin, J.K., and C.K. Chou. 1992. In vitro apoptosis in the human hepatoma cell line induced by transforming growth factor beta 1. *Cancer Res.* 52:385-8.
- Liu, Q., H. Mao, J. Nie, W. Chen, Q. Yang, X. Dong, and X. Yu. 2008. Transforming growth factor {beta}1 induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition by activating the JNK-Smad3 pathway in rat peritoneal mesothelial cells. *Perit Dial Int.* 28 Suppl 3:S88-95.
- Liu, W.F., C.M. Nelson, D.M. Pirone, and C.S. Chen. 2006. E-cadherin engagement stimulates proliferation via Rac1. J Cell Biol. 173:431-41.
- Liu, Z., J.L. Tan, D.M. Cohen, M.T. Yang, N.J. Sniadecki, S.A. Ruiz, C.M. Nelson, and C.S. Chen. 2010. Mechanical tugging force regulates the size of cell-cell junctions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 107:9944-9.
- Lo, C.M., H.B. Wang, M. Dembo, and Y.L. Wang. 2000. Cell movement is guided by the rigidity of the substrate. *Biophys J.* 79:144-52.

- Lyshchik, A., T. Higashi, R. Asato, S. Tanaka, J. Ito, M. Hiraoka, A.B. Brill, T. Saga, and K. Togashi. 2005. Elastic moduli of thyroid tissues under compression. *Ultrason Imaging*. 27:101-10.
- Manduca, A., T.E. Oliphant, M.A. Dresner, J.L. Mahowald, S.A. Kruse, E. Amromin, J.P. Felmlee, J.F. Greenleaf, and R.L. Ehman. 2001. Magnetic resonance elastography: noninvasive mapping of tissue elasticity. *Med Image Anal*. 5:237-54.
- Markowitz, S., J. Wang, L. Myeroff, R. Parsons, L. Sun, J. Lutterbaugh, R.S. Fan, E. Zborowska, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, and et al. 1995. Inactivation of the type II TGF-beta receptor in colon cancer cells with microsatellite instability. *Science*. 268:1336-8.

Massague, J. 2008. TGFbeta in Cancer. Cell. 134:215-30.

- Masszi, A., C. Di Ciano, G. Sirokmany, W.T. Arthur, O.D. Rotstein, J. Wang, C.A. McCulloch, L. Rosivall, I. Mucsi, and A. Kapus. 2003. Central role for Rho in TGF-beta1-induced alpha-smooth muscle actin expression during epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*. 284:F911-24.
- Matter, M.L., and E. Ruoslahti. 2001. A signaling pathway from the alpha5beta1 and alpha(v)beta3 integrins that elevates bcl-2 transcription. *J Biol Chem*. 276:27757-63.
- Mayo, L.D., and D.B. Donner. 2001. A phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway promotes translocation of Mdm2 from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 98:11598-603.
- McBeath, R., D.M. Pirone, C.M. Nelson, K. Bhadriraju, and C.S. Chen. 2004. Cell shape, cytoskeletal tension, and RhoA regulate stem cell lineage commitment. *Dev Cell*. 6:483-95.
- Medici, D., E.D. Hay, and D.A. Goodenough. 2006. Cooperation between snail and LEF-1 transcription factors is essential for TGF-beta1-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Mol Biol Cell*. 17:1871-9.
- Medley, Q.G., E.G. Buchbinder, K. Tachibana, H. Ngo, C. Serra-Pages, and M. Streuli. 2003. Signaling between focal adhesion kinase and trio. *J Biol Chem.* 278:13265-70.
- Mercado-Pimentel, M.E., and R.B. Runyan. 2007. Multiple transforming growth factor-beta isoforms and receptors function during epithelial-mesenchymal cell transformation in the embryonic heart. *Cells Tissues Organs*. 185:146-56.
- Meredith, J.E., Jr., B. Fazeli, and M.A. Schwartz. 1993. The extracellular matrix as a cell survival factor. *Mol Biol Cell*. 4:953-61.
- Miettinen, P.J., R. Ebner, A.R. Lopez, and R. Derynck. 1994. TGF-beta induced transdifferentiation of mammary epithelial cells to mesenchymal cells: involvement of type I receptors. *J Cell Biol*. 127:2021-36.
- Miller, J.S., C.J. Shen, W.R. Legant, J.D. Baranski, B.L. Blakely, and C.S. Chen. 2010. Bioactive hydrogels made from step-growth derived PEG-peptide macromers. *Biomaterials*. 31:3736-43.
- Mori, M., H. Nakagami, N. Koibuchi, K. Miura, Y. Takami, H. Koriyama, H. Hayashi, H. Sabe, N. Mochizuki, R. Morishita, and Y. Kaneda. 2009. Zyxin mediates actin fiber reorganization in epithelial-mesenchymal transition and contributes to endocardial morphogenesis. *Mol Biol Cell*. 20:3115-24.
- Motyl, T., K. Grzelkowska, W. Zimowska, J. Skierski, P. Wareski, T. Ploszaj, and L. Trzeciak. 1998. Expression of bcl-2 and bax in TGF-beta 1-induced apoptosis of L1210 leukemic cells. *Eur J Cell Biol*. 75:367-74.
- Mucsi, I., K.L. Skorecki, and H.J. Goldberg. 1996. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase and the small GTP-binding protein, Rac, contribute to the effects of transforming growth factorbeta1 on gene expression. J Biol Chem. 271:16567-72.
- Muraoka, R.S., Y. Koh, L.R. Roebuck, M.E. Sanders, D. Brantley-Sieders, A.E. Gorska, H.L. Moses, and C.L. Arteaga. 2003. Increased malignancy of Neu-induced mammary tumors overexpressing active transforming growth factor beta1. *Mol Cell Biol*. 23:8691-703.
- Nakao, A., E. Roijer, T. Imamura, S. Souchelnytskyi, G. Stenman, C.H. Heldin, and P. ten Dijke. 1997. Identification of Smad2, a human Mad-related protein in the transforming growth factor beta signaling pathway. *J Biol Chem*. 272:2896-900.
- Nawshad, A., D. LaGamba, and E.D. Hay. 2004. Transforming growth factor beta (TGFbeta) signalling in palatal growth, apoptosis and epithelial mesenchymal transformation (EMT). Arch Oral Biol. 49:675-89.
- Nelson, C.M., D. Khauv, M.J. Bissell, and D.C. Radisky. 2008. Change in cell shape is required for matrix metalloproteinase-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition of mammary epithelial cells. *J Cell Biochem*. 105:25-33.
- Nemir, S., and J.L. West. 2010. Synthetic materials in the study of cell response to substrate rigidity. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 38:2-20.
- Nuttelman, C.R., M.A. Rice, A.E. Rydholm, C.N. Salinas, D.N. Shah, and K.S. Anseth. 2008. Macromolecular Monomers for the Synthesis of Hydrogel Niches and Their Application in Cell Encapsulation and Tissue Engineering. *Prog Polym Sci.* 33:167-179.
- Oberhammer, F.A., M. Pavelka, S. Sharma, R. Tiefenbacher, A.F. Purchio, W. Bursch, and R. Schulte-Hermann. 1992. Induction of apoptosis in cultured hepatocytes and in regressing liver by transforming growth factor beta 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 89:5408-12.
- Oft, M., K.H. Heider, and H. Beug. 1998. TGFbeta signaling is necessary for carcinoma cell invasiveness and metastasis. *Curr Biol.* 8:1243-52.

- Oft, M., J. Peli, C. Rudaz, H. Schwarz, H. Beug, and E. Reichmann. 1996. TGF-beta1 and Ha-Ras collaborate in modulating the phenotypic plasticity and invasiveness of epithelial tumor cells. *Genes Dev.* 10:2462-77.
- Ory, D.S., B.A. Neugeboren, and R.C. Mulligan. 1996. A stable human-derived packaging cell line for production of high titer retrovirus/vesicular stomatitis virus G pseudotypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 93:11400-6.
- Ozdamar, B., R. Bose, M. Barrios-Rodiles, H.R. Wang, Y. Zhang, and J.L. Wrana. 2005. Regulation of the polarity protein Par6 by TGFbeta receptors controls epithelial cell plasticity. *Science*. 307:1603-9.
- Padera, T.P., B.R. Stoll, J.B. Tooredman, D. Capen, E. di Tomaso, and R.K. Jain. 2004. Pathology: cancer cells compress intratumour vessels. *Nature*. 427:695.
- Park, J., S. Yoo, E. Lee, D. Lee, J. Kim, and S. Lee. 2010. Increased poly(dimethylsiloxane) stiffness improves viability and morphology of mouse fibroblast cells. *Biochip Journal*. 4:230-236.
- Parker, K.J., and R.M. Lerner. 1992. Sonoelasticity of organs: shear waves ring a bell. J Ultrasound Med. 11:387-92.
- Paszek, M.J., N. Zahir, K.R. Johnson, J.N. Lakins, G.I. Rozenberg, A. Gefen, C.A. Reinhart-King, S.S. Margulies, M. Dembo, D. Boettiger, D.A. Hammer, and V.M. Weaver. 2005. Tensional homeostasis and the malignant phenotype. *Cancer Cell*. 8:241-54.
- Peinado, H., M. Quintanilla, and A. Cano. 2003. Transforming growth factor beta-1 induces snail transcription factor in epithelial cell lines: mechanisms for epithelial mesenchymal transitions. *J Biol Chem.* 278:21113-23.
- Pelham, R.J., Jr., and Y. Wang. 1997. Cell locomotion and focal adhesions are regulated by substrate flexibility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 94:13661-5.
- Perlman, R., W.P. Schiemann, M.W. Brooks, H.F. Lodish, and R.A. Weinberg. 2001. TGFbeta-induced apoptosis is mediated by the adapter protein Daxx that facilitates JNK activation. *Nat Cell Biol.* 3:708-14.
- Persad, S., S. Attwell, V. Gray, N. Mawji, J.T. Deng, D. Leung, J. Yan, J. Sanghera, M.P. Walsh, and S. Dedhar. 2001. Regulation of protein kinase B/Akt-serine 473 phosphorylation by integrin-linked kinase: critical roles for kinase activity and amino acids arginine 211 and serine 343. *J Biol Chem.* 276:27462-9.
- Petridou, S., O. Maltseva, S. Spanakis, and S.K. Masur. 2000. TGF-beta receptor expression and smad2 localization are cell density dependent in fibroblasts. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 41:89-95.
- Petritsch, C., H. Beug, A. Balmain, and M. Oft. 2000. TGF-beta inhibits p70 S6 kinase via protein phosphatase 2A to induce G(1) arrest. *Genes Dev.* 14:3093-101.

- Peyton, S.R., C.B. Raub, V.P. Keschrumrus, and A.J. Putnam. 2006. The use of poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels to investigate the impact of ECM chemistry and mechanics on smooth muscle cells. *Biomaterials*. 27:4881-93.
- Piek, E., A. Moustakas, A. Kurisaki, C.H. Heldin, and P. ten Dijke. 1999. TGF-(beta) type I receptor/ALK-5 and Smad proteins mediate epithelial to mesenchymal transdifferentiation in NMuMG breast epithelial cells. *J Cell Sci*. 112 (Pt 24):4557-68.
- Pietenpol, J.A., R.W. Stein, E. Moran, P. Yaciuk, R. Schlegel, R.M. Lyons, M.R. Pittelkow, K. Munger, P.M. Howley, and H.L. Moses. 1990. TGF-beta 1 inhibition of c-myc transcription and growth in keratinocytes is abrogated by viral transforming proteins with pRB binding domains. *Cell*. 61:777-85.
- Pirone, D.M., W.F. Liu, S.A. Ruiz, L. Gao, S. Raghavan, C.A. Lemmon, L.H. Romer, and C.S. Chen. 2006. An inhibitory role for FAK in regulating proliferation: a link between limited adhesion and RhoA-ROCK signaling. *J Cell Biol*. 174:277-88.
- Pless, D.D., Y.C. Lee, S. Roseman, and R.L. Schnaar. 1983. Specific cell adhesion to immobilized glycoproteins demonstrated using new reagents for protein and glycoprotein immobilization. *J Biol Chem*. 258:2340-9.
- Prall, F. 2007. Tumour budding in colorectal carcinoma. *Histopathology*. 50:151-62.
- Provenzano, P.P., D.R. Inman, K.W. Eliceiri, and P.J. Keely. 2009. Matrix density-induced mechanoregulation of breast cell phenotype, signaling and gene expression through a FAK-ERK linkage. *Oncogene*. 28:4326-43.
- Rahimi, R.A., and E.B. Leof. 2007. TGF-beta signaling: a tale of two responses. *J Cell Biochem*. 102:593-608.
- Rahman, S., Y. Patel, J. Murray, K.V. Patel, R. Sumathipala, M. Sobel, and E.S. Wijelath. 2005. Novel hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) binding domains on fibronectin and vitronectin coordinate a distinct and amplified Met-integrin induced signalling pathway in endothelial cells. *BMC Cell Biol*. 6:8.
- Ramjaun, A.R., S. Tomlinson, A. Eddaoudi, and J. Downward. 2007. Upregulation of two BH3only proteins, Bmf and Bim, during TGF beta-induced apoptosis. *Oncogene*. 26:970-81.
- Reinhart-King, C.A., M. Dembo, and D.A. Hammer. 2005. The dynamics and mechanics of endothelial cell spreading. *Biophys J.* 89:676-89.
- Remy, I., A. Montmarquette, and S.W. Michnick. 2004. PKB/Akt modulates TGF-beta signalling through a direct interaction with Smad3. *Nat Cell Biol.* 6:358-65.
- Robson, E.J., W.T. Khaled, K. Abell, and C.J. Watson. 2006. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition confers resistance to apoptosis in three murine mammary epithelial cell lines. *Differentiation*. 74:254-64.
- Rodriguez-Boulan, E., and W.J. Nelson. 1989. Morphogenesis of the polarized epithelial cell phenotype. *Science*. 245:718-25.

- Roeder, B.A., K. Kokini, J.E. Sturgis, J.P. Robinson, and S.L. Voytik-Harbin. 2002. Tensile mechanical properties of three-dimensional type I collagen extracellular matrices with varied microstructure. *J Biomech Eng.* 124:214-22.
- Roeder, B.A., K. Kokini, and S.L. Voytik-Harbin. 2009. Fibril microstructure affects strain transmission within collagen extracellular matrices. *J Biomech Eng.* 131:031004.
- Rotello, R.J., R.C. Lieberman, A.F. Purchio, and L.E. Gerschenson. 1991. Coordinated regulation of apoptosis and cell proliferation by transforming growth factor beta 1 in cultured uterine epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 88:3412-5.
- Rowley, J.A., G. Madlambayan, and D.J. Mooney. 1999. Alginate hydrogels as synthetic extracellular matrix materials. *Biomaterials*. 20:45-53.
- Saika, S., S. Kono-Saika, T. Tanaka, O. Yamanaka, Y. Ohnishi, M. Sato, Y. Muragaki, A. Ooshima, J. Yoo, K.C. Flanders, and A.B. Roberts. 2004. Smad3 is required for dedifferentiation of retinal pigment epithelium following retinal detachment in mice. *Lab Invest*. 84:1245-58.
- Samani, A., J. Zubovits, and D. Plewes. 2007. Elastic moduli of normal and pathological human breast tissues: an inversion-technique-based investigation of 169 samples. *Phys Med Biol.* 52:1565-76.
- Sato, M., Y. Muragaki, S. Saika, A.B. Roberts, and A. Ooshima. 2003. Targeted disruption of TGF-beta1/Smad3 signaling protects against renal tubulointerstitial fibrosis induced by unilateral ureteral obstruction. J Clin Invest. 112:1486-94.
- Schaller, M.D., C.A. Borgman, B.S. Cobb, R.R. Vines, A.B. Reynolds, and J.T. Parsons. 1992. pp125FAK a structurally distinctive protein-tyrosine kinase associated with focal adhesions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*. 89:5192-6.
- Schaller, M.D., J.D. Hildebrand, J.D. Shannon, J.W. Fox, R.R. Vines, and J.T. Parsons. 1994. Autophosphorylation of the focal adhesion kinase, pp125FAK, directs SH2-dependent binding of pp60src. *Mol Cell Biol.* 14:1680-8.
- Schaller, M.D., C.A. Otey, J.D. Hildebrand, and J.T. Parsons. 1995. Focal adhesion kinase and paxillin bind to peptides mimicking beta integrin cytoplasmic domains. *J Cell Biol.* 130:1181-7.
- Schlaepfer, D.D., S.K. Hanks, T. Hunter, and P. van der Geer. 1994. Integrin-mediated signal transduction linked to Ras pathway by GRB2 binding to focal adhesion kinase. *Nature*. 372:786-91.
- Schlaepfer, D.D., K.C. Jones, and T. Hunter. 1998. Multiple Grb2-mediated integrin-stimulated signaling pathways to ERK2/mitogen-activated protein kinase: summation of both c-Src- and focal adhesion kinase-initiated tyrosine phosphorylation events. *Mol Cell Biol*. 18:2571-85.

- Seidlits, S.K., Z.Z. Khaing, R.R. Petersen, J.D. Nickels, J.E. Vanscoy, J.B. Shear, and C.E. Schmidt. 2010. The effects of hyaluronic acid hydrogels with tunable mechanical properties on neural progenitor cell differentiation. *Biomaterials*. 31:3930-40.
- Seton-Rogers, S.E., Y. Lu, L.M. Hines, M. Koundinya, J. LaBaer, S.K. Muthuswamy, and J.S. Brugge. 2004. Cooperation of the ErbB2 receptor and transforming growth factor beta in induction of migration and invasion in mammary epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. 101:1257-62.
- Shin, I., A.V. Bakin, U. Rodeck, A. Brunet, and C.L. Arteaga. 2001. Transforming growth factor beta enhances epithelial cell survival via Akt-dependent regulation of FKHRL1. *Mol Biol Cell*. 12:3328-39.
- Siegel, P.M., and J. Massague. 2003. Cytostatic and apoptotic actions of TGF-beta in homeostasis and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 3:807-21.
- Siegel, P.M., W. Shu, R.D. Cardiff, W.J. Muller, and J. Massague. 2003. Transforming growth factor beta signaling impairs Neu-induced mammary tumorigenesis while promoting pulmonary metastasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 100:8430-5.
- Sieminski, A.L., A.S. Was, G. Kim, H. Gong, and R.D. Kamm. 2007. The stiffness of threedimensional ionic self-assembling peptide gels affects the extent of capillary-like network formation. *Cell Biochem Biophys*. 49:73-83.
- Smetana, K., Jr. 1993. Cell biology of hydrogels. *Biomaterials*. 14:1046-50.
- Solnica-Krezel, L. 2005. Conserved patterns of cell movements during vertebrate gastrulation. *Curr Biol.* 15:R213-28.
- Sonoda, Y., Y. Matsumoto, M. Funakoshi, D. Yamamoto, S.K. Hanks, and T. Kasahara. 2000. Anti-apoptotic role of focal adhesion kinase (FAK). Induction of inhibitor-of-apoptosis proteins and apoptosis suppression by the overexpression of FAK in a human leukemic cell line, HL-60. *J Biol Chem.* 275:16309-15.
- Sorrentino, A., N. Thakur, S. Grimsby, A. Marcusson, V. von Bulow, N. Schuster, S. Zhang, C.H. Heldin, and M. Landstrom. 2008. The type I TGF-beta receptor engages TRAF6 to activate TAK1 in a receptor kinase-independent manner. *Nat Cell Biol*. 10:1199-207.
- Stephens, L., K. Anderson, D. Stokoe, H. Erdjument-Bromage, G.F. Painter, A.B. Holmes, P.R. Gaffney, C.B. Reese, F. McCormick, P. Tempst, J. Coadwell, and P.T. Hawkins. 1998. Protein kinase B kinases that mediate phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate-dependent activation of protein kinase B. Science. 279:710-4.
- Strongin, A.Y. 2006. Mislocalization and unconventional functions of cellular MMPs in cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 25:87-98.
- Stuelten, C.H., M.B. Buck, J. Dippon, A.B. Roberts, P. Fritz, and C. Knabbe. 2006. Smad4expression is decreased in breast cancer tissues: a retrospective study. *BMC Cancer*. 6:25.

- Tan, J.L., W. Liu, C.M. Nelson, S. Raghavan, and C.S. Chen. 2004. Simple approach to micropattern cells on common culture substrates by tuning substrate wettability. *Tissue Eng.* 10:865-72.
- Tavares, A.L., M.E. Mercado-Pimentel, R.B. Runyan, and G.T. Kitten. 2006. TGF betamediated RhoA expression is necessary for epithelial-mesenchymal transition in the embryonic chick heart. *Dev Dyn*. 235:1589-98.
- Teixeira, A.I., S. Ilkhanizadeh, J.A. Wigenius, J.K. Duckworth, O. Inganas, and O. Hermanson. 2009. The promotion of neuronal maturation on soft substrates. *Biomaterials*. 30:4567-72.
- Thiery, J.P., H. Acloque, R.Y. Huang, and M.A. Nieto. 2009. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and disease. *Cell*. 139:871-90.
- Tlsty, T.D. 2001. Stromal cells can contribute oncogenic signals. *Semin Cancer Biol*. 11:97-104.
- Toker, A., and A.C. Newton. 2000. Akt/protein kinase B is regulated by autophosphorylation at the hypothetical PDK-2 site. *J Biol Chem*. 275:8271-4.
- Tucker, R.P. 2004. Neural crest cells: a model for invasive behavior. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*. 36:173-7.
- Tumbarello, D.A., M.C. Brown, S.E. Hetey, and C.E. Turner. 2005. Regulation of paxillin family members during epithelial-mesenchymal transformation: a putative role for paxillin delta. *J Cell Sci.* 118:4849-63.
- Ueda, Y., S. Wang, N. Dumont, J.Y. Yi, Y. Koh, and C.L. Arteaga. 2004. Overexpression of HER2 (erbB2) in human breast epithelial cells unmasks transforming growth factor beta-induced cell motility. *J Biol Chem*. 279:24505-13.
- Ulrich, T.A., A. Jain, K. Tanner, J.L. MacKay, and S. Kumar. 2010. Probing cellular mechanobiology in three-dimensional culture with collagen-agarose matrices. *Biomaterials*. 31:1875-84.
- Unsold, C., M. Hyytiainen, L. Bruckner-Tuderman, and J. Keski-Oja. 2001. Latent TGF-beta binding protein LTBP-1 contains three potential extracellular matrix interacting domains. *J Cell Sci.* 114:187-197.
- Uttamsingh, S., X. Bao, K.T. Nguyen, M. Bhanot, J. Gong, J.L. Chan, F. Liu, T.T. Chu, and L.H. Wang. 2008. Synergistic effect between EGF and TGF-beta1 in inducing oncogenic properties of intestinal epithelial cells. *Oncogene*. 27:2626-34.
- Vailhe, B., X. Ronot, P. Tracqui, Y. Usson, and L. Tranqui. 1997. In vitro angiogenesis is modulated by the mechanical properties of fibrin gels and is related to alpha(v)beta3 integrin localization. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim.* 33:763-73.

- Valcourt, U., M. Kowanetz, H. Niimi, C.H. Heldin, and A. Moustakas. 2005. TGF-beta and the Smad signaling pathway support transcriptomic reprogramming during epithelialmesenchymal cell transition. *Mol Biol Cell*. 16:1987-2002.
- Valdes, F., A.M. Alvarez, A. Locascio, S. Vega, B. Herrera, M. Fernandez, M. Benito, M.A. Nieto, and I. Fabregat. 2002. The epithelial mesenchymal transition confers resistance to the apoptotic effects of transforming growth factor Beta in fetal rat hepatocytes. *Mol Cancer Res.* 1:68-78.
- van der Velden, J.L., J.F. Alcorn, A.S. Guala, E.C. Badura, and Y.M. Janssen-Heininger. 2010. c-Jun N-Terminal Kinase 1 Promotes TGF-{beta}1-induced Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition via Control of Linker Phosphorylation and Transcriptional Activity of Smad3. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.
- Vega, S., A.V. Morales, O.H. Ocana, F. Valdes, I. Fabregat, and M.A. Nieto. 2004. Snail blocks the cell cycle and confers resistance to cell death. *Genes Dev.* 18:1131-43.
- Vinals, F., and J. Pouyssegur. 2001. Transforming growth factor beta1 (TGF-beta1) promotes endothelial cell survival during in vitro angiogenesis via an autocrine mechanism implicating TGF-alpha signaling. *Mol Cell Biol.* 21:7218-30.
- Vincent, T., E.P. Neve, J.R. Johnson, A. Kukalev, F. Rojo, J. Albanell, K. Pietras, I. Virtanen, L. Philipson, P.L. Leopold, R.G. Crystal, A.G. de Herreros, A. Moustakas, R.F. Pettersson, and J. Fuxe. 2009. A SNAIL1-SMAD3/4 transcriptional repressor complex promotes TGF-beta mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Nat Cell Biol*. 11:943-50.
- Walsh, M.F., D.R. Ampasala, J. Hatfield, R. Vander Heide, S. Suer, A.K. Rishi, and M.D. Basson. 2008. Transforming growth factor-beta stimulates intestinal epithelial focal adhesion kinase synthesis via Smad- and p38-dependent mechanisms. *Am J Pathol.* 173:385-99.
- Wang, H., V. Radjendirane, K.K. Wary, and S. Chakrabarty. 2004. Transforming growth factor beta regulates cell-cell adhesion through extracellular matrix remodeling and activation of focal adhesion kinase in human colon carcinoma Moser cells. *Oncogene*. 23:5558-61.
- Wang, H.B., M. Dembo, and Y.L. Wang. 2000. Substrate flexibility regulates growth and apoptosis of normal but not transformed cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 279:C1345-50.
- Wang, J., L. Sun, L. Myeroff, X. Wang, L.E. Gentry, J. Yang, J. Liang, E. Zborowska, S. Markowitz, J.K. Willson, and et al. 1995. Demonstration that mutation of the type II transforming growth factor beta receptor inactivates its tumor suppressor activity in replication error-positive colon carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem.* 270:22044-9.
- Wang, L., R.M. Shelton, P.R. Cooper, M. Lawson, J.T. Triffitt, and J.E. Barralet. 2003a. Evaluation of sodium alginate for bone marrow cell tissue engineering. *Biomaterials*. 24:3475-81.

- Wang, X., J.C. Keith, Jr., A.D. Struthers, and G.Z. Feuerstein. 2008. Assessment of arterial stiffness, a translational medicine biomarker system for evaluation of vascular risk. *Cardiovasc Ther*. 26:214-23.
- Wang, Y.H., W.T. Chiu, Y.K. Wang, C.C. Wu, T.L. Chen, C.F. Teng, W.T. Chang, H.C. Chang, and M.J. Tang. 2007. Deregulation of AP-1 proteins in collagen gel-induced epithelial cell apoptosis mediated by low substratum rigidity. *J Biol Chem.* 282:752-63.
- Wang, Y.K., Y.H. Wang, C.Z. Wang, J.M. Sung, W.T. Chiu, S.H. Lin, Y.H. Chang, and M.J. Tang. 2003b. Rigidity of collagen fibrils controls collagen gel-induced down-regulation of focal adhesion complex proteins mediated by alpha2beta1 integrin. *J Biol Chem*. 278:21886-92.
- Weaver, V.M., S. Lelievre, J.N. Lakins, M.A. Chrenek, J.C. Jones, F. Giancotti, Z. Werb, and M.J. Bissell. 2002. beta4 integrin-dependent formation of polarized three-dimensional architecture confers resistance to apoptosis in normal and malignant mammary epithelium. *Cancer Cell*. 2:205-16.
- Wen, L.P., J.A. Fahrni, S. Troie, J.L. Guan, K. Orth, and G.D. Rosen. 1997. Cleavage of focal adhesion kinase by caspases during apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*. 272:26056-61.
- West, E.R., M. Xu, T.K. Woodruff, and L.D. Shea. 2007. Physical properties of alginate hydrogels and their effects on in vitro follicle development. *Biomaterials*. 28:4439-48.
- Wikstrom, P., P. Stattin, I. Franck-Lissbrant, J.E. Damber, and A. Bergh. 1998. Transforming growth factor beta1 is associated with angiogenesis, metastasis, and poor clinical outcome in prostate cancer. *Prostate*. 37:19-29.
- Wilkes, M.C., H. Mitchell, S.G. Penheiter, J.J. Dore, K. Suzuki, M. Edens, D.K. Sharma, R.E. Pagano, and E.B. Leof. 2005. Transforming growth factor-beta activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase is independent of Smad2 and Smad3 and regulates fibroblast responses via p21-activated kinase-2. *Cancer Res.* 65:10431-40.
- Wilkes, M.C., S.J. Murphy, N. Garamszegi, and E.B. Leof. 2003. Cell-type-specific activation of PAK2 by transforming growth factor beta independent of Smad2 and Smad3. *Mol Cell Biol*. 23:8878-89.
- Winer, J.P., P.A. Janmey, M.E. McCormick, and M. Funaki. 2009a. Bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells become quiescent on soft substrates but remain responsive to chemical or mechanical stimuli. *Tissue Eng Part A*. 15:147-54.
- Winer, J.P., S. Oake, and P.A. Janmey. 2009b. Non-linear elasticity of extracellular matrices enables contractile cells to communicate local position and orientation. *PLoS One*. 4:e6382.
- Wipff, P.J., D.B. Rifkin, J.J. Meister, and B. Hinz. 2007. Myofibroblast contraction activates latent TGF-beta1 from the extracellular matrix. *J Cell Biol*. 179:1311-23.

- Wozniak, M.A., R. Desai, P.A. Solski, C.J. Der, and P.J. Keely. 2003. ROCK-generated contractility regulates breast epithelial cell differentiation in response to the physical properties of a three-dimensional collagen matrix. *J Cell Biol*. 163:583-95.
- Wrana, J.L., L. Attisano, J. Carcamo, A. Zentella, J. Doody, M. Laiho, X.F. Wang, and J. Massague. 1992. TGF beta signals through a heteromeric protein kinase receptor complex. *Cell*. 71:1003-14.
- Wu, M.Y., and C.S. Hill. 2009. Tgf-beta superfamily signaling in embryonic development and homeostasis. *Dev Cell*. 16:329-43.
- Wyckoff, J.B., Y. Wang, E.Y. Lin, J.F. Li, S. Goswami, E.R. Stanley, J.E. Segall, J.W. Pollard, and J. Condeelis. 2007. Direct visualization of macrophage-assisted tumor cell intravasation in mammary tumors. *Cancer Res.* 67:2649-56.
- Xia, H., R.S. Nho, J. Kahm, J. Kleidon, and C.A. Henke. 2004. Focal adhesion kinase is upstream of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt in regulating fibroblast survival in response to contraction of type I collagen matrices via a beta 1 integrin viability signaling pathway. *J Biol Chem.* 279:33024-34.
- Xie, L., B.K. Law, A.M. Chytil, K.A. Brown, M.E. Aakre, and H.L. Moses. 2004. Activation of the Erk pathway is required for TGF-beta1-induced EMT in vitro. *Neoplasia*. 6:603-10.
- Yamamura, Y., X. Hua, S. Bergelson, and H.F. Lodish. 2000. Critical role of Smads and AP-1 complex in transforming growth factor-beta -dependent apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*. 275:36295-302.
- Yamashita, M., K. Fatyol, C. Jin, X. Wang, Z. Liu, and Y.E. Zhang. 2008. TRAF6 mediates Smad-independent activation of JNK and p38 by TGF-beta. *Mol Cell*. 31:918-24.
- Yanagihara, K., and M. Tsumuraya. 1992. Transforming growth factor beta 1 induces apoptotic cell death in cultured human gastric carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res.* 52:4042-5.
- Yano, T., K. Ito, H. Fukamachi, X.Z. Chi, H.J. Wee, K. Inoue, H. Ida, P. Bouillet, A. Strasser, S.C. Bae, and Y. Ito. 2006. The RUNX3 tumor suppressor upregulates Bim in gastric epithelial cells undergoing transforming growth factor beta-induced apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol*. 26:4474-88.
- Yeh, W.C., P.C. Li, Y.M. Jeng, H.C. Hsu, P.L. Kuo, M.L. Li, P.M. Yang, and P.H. Lee. 2002. Elastic modulus measurements of human liver and correlation with pathology. *Ultrasound Med Biol.* 28:467-74.
- Yeung, T., P.C. Georges, L.A. Flanagan, B. Marg, M. Ortiz, M. Funaki, N. Zahir, W. Ming, V. Weaver, and P.A. Janmey. 2005. Effects of substrate stiffness on cell morphology, cytoskeletal structure, and adhesion. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*. 60:24-34.
- Yi, J.Y., I. Shin, and C.L. Arteaga. 2005. Type I transforming growth factor beta receptor binds to and activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *J Biol Chem.* 280:10870-6.

- Yingling, J.M., M.B. Datto, C. Wong, J.P. Frederick, N.T. Liberati, and X.F. Wang. 1997. Tumor suppressor Smad4 is a transforming growth factor beta-inducible DNA binding protein. *Mol Cell Biol.* 17:7019-28.
- Yu, L., M.C. Hebert, and Y.E. Zhang. 2002. TGF-beta receptor-activated p38 MAP kinase mediates Smad-independent TGF-beta responses. *EMBO J.* 21:3749-59.
- Zaidel-Bar, R., S. Itzkovitz, A. Ma'ayan, R. Iyengar, and B. Geiger. 2007. Functional atlas of the integrin adhesome. *Nat Cell Biol*. 9:858-67.
- Zhai, J., H. Lin, Z. Nie, J. Wu, R. Canete-Soler, W.W. Schlaepfer, and D.D. Schlaepfer. 2003. Direct interaction of focal adhesion kinase with p190RhoGEF. *J Biol Chem*. 278:24865-73.
- Zhang, Y.E. 2009. Non-Smad pathways in TGF-beta signaling. Cell Res. 19:128-39.
- Zhang, Z., K. Vuori, J.C. Reed, and E. Ruoslahti. 1995. The alpha 5 beta 1 integrin supports survival of cells on fibronectin and up-regulates Bcl-2 expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A. 92:6161-5.
- Zhu, G.G., L. Risteli, M. Makinen, J. Risteli, A. Kauppila, and F. Stenback. 1995. Immunohistochemical study of type I collagen and type I pN-collagen in benign and malignant ovarian neoplasms. *Cancer*. 75:1010-7.
- Zhu, Y., J.A. Richardson, L.F. Parada, and J.M. Graff. 1998. Smad3 mutant mice develop metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cell*. 94:703-14.
- Zouq, N.K., J.A. Keeble, J. Lindsay, A.J. Valentijn, L. Zhang, D. Mills, C.E. Turner, C.H. Streuli, and A.P. Gilmore. 2009. FAK engages multiple pathways to maintain survival of fibroblasts and epithelia: differential roles for paxillin and p130Cas. *J Cell Sci.* 122:357-67.
- Zuo, W., and Y.G. Chen. 2009. Specific activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase by transforming growth factor-beta receptors in lipid rafts is required for epithelial cell plasticity. *Mol Biol Cell*. 20:1020-9.